
 
 

CITY OF LAKE GENEVA 
626 GENEVA STREET 
LAKE GENEVA, WI 

 
PLAN COMMISSION MEETING 
MONDAY, JULY 17, 2017 - 6:00 PM 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 

 
Agenda 

 
 1. Meeting called to order by Mayor Kupsik. 
 
 2. Roll Call. 
 
 3. Approve Minutes of the June 19 Plan Commission meeting as distributed. 

  
 4.  Comments from the public as allowed by Wis. Stats. §19.84(2), limited to items on this agenda, except for public 

hearing items.  Comments will be limited to five (5) minutes. 
 
 5. Acknowledgment of Correspondence.  
 
 6.  Downtown Design Review. 
 

A. Application by Melissa Reuss, 150 Broad Street, Lake Geneva, WI  53147, to replace the canvas 
awning at 150 Broad Street, Geneva Gifts, Tax Key No. ZOP00329. 
 

B. Application by Nicolas Carone, 177 Valencia Parkway, Gilberts, IL  60136, for a sign at 272 Broad 
Street, Frank’s Original, Tax Key No. ZOP00244. 

 
C. Application by Greg Odden, 705 Madison Street, Lake Geneva, WI  53147, to change the exterior 

color of façade at 201 Wrigley Drive, Visit Lake Geneva, Flat Iron Park.  
 
7. A. Public Hearing and Recommendation on a General Development Plan (GDP) filed by Mark & Jeanne Hathaway, 

420 Elmwood Avenue, Lake Geneva, WI 53147, to allow for an existing two story accessory structure alteration 
at 420 Elmwood Avenue, Tax Key No. ZYUP00067. 
 
B. Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Precise Implementation Plan (PIP) filed by Mark & Jeanne Hathaway, 
420 Elmwood Avenue, Lake Geneva, WI 53147, to allow for an existing two story accessory structure alteration 
at 420 Elmwood Avenue, Tax Key No. ZYUP00067. 
 

8. A.  Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Conditional Use Site Plan Amendment filed by Rick Bittner, 259 
Skyline Drive, Lake Geneva, WI 53147, on behalf of Next Door Pub, to renovate two existing parking stalls to 
allow for additional exterior waiting area at 411 Interchange North, Tax Key No. ZYUP00137M. 

 
9. Public Hearing and Recommendation on an Amendment to a Precise Implementation Plan filed by Eric 

Drazkowski, Engineer & Tom Schermerhorn, Architect of Excel Engineering, Inc, 100 Camelot Drive, Fond du Lac, 
WI 54935, on behalf of Brunk Industries, to modify walk and culvert connection between the existing facilities 
and new facility along E Sheridan Springs Road at 1225 Sage Street, Tax Key No. ZA471200001. 
 

10. Public Hearing and Recommendation of a Precise Implementation Plan filed by McMurr II, LLC, 351 W. Hubbard, 
Suite 610, Chicago, IL 60654, for the continuation of phase I of the Summerhaven of Lake Geneva 
Condominiums. 

 
 



 
11. Plan Commission Reviews the Comprehensive Plan Amendment Applications. 

A. White River Holdings LLC, 11 East Madison, Suite L-100, Chicago, IL 60602 for former Hillmoor Golf 
property on Tax Key Nos. ZYUP00001C, ZOP00001, ZYUP00131 and ZYUP00153. 

B. Core Commercial Inc., PO Box 1154, Appleton, WI  54912 for property near Edwards Blvd & Geneva 
Parkway North with Tax Key Nos. ZGEC00001, ZGEC00001A and ZGEC00002. 

C. Geneva Waterfront Inc., N2009 S Lake Shore Drive, Lake Geneva, WI  53147 and Bigfoot Holdings 
LLC (dta Geneva Inn) for Tax Key Nos. IL120000-5C, IL120000-5C2, IL120000-5D, IL120000-5E, 
IL120000-5F and IL120000-4. 

D. Jeffrey & Beverly Leonard, 1504 Dodge Street, Lake Geneva, WI  53147 for 905 Main Street, Lake 
Geneva, WI for Tax Key No. ZOP00243A. 

E. Terrence J O’Neill, 954 George Street, Lake Geneva, WI 53147 for request for Referendum included as 
part of process. 

 
12. Adjournment 
 

 
 

 
QUORUM OF CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS MAY BE PRESENT 

Requests from persons with disabilities, who need assistance in order to participate in this meeting, should be made to the City Clerk's office, in order for appropriate accommodations. 

 Posted 7/12/2017 



PLAN COMMISSION MEETING 
MONDAY, JUNE 19, 2017 – 6:00 PM 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL 
 
Mayor Kupsik called the meeting to order at 6:04p.m.  
 
Roll Call.  Present: Mayor Kupsik, Alderman Doug Skates, John Gibbs, Sarah Hill, Tyler Frederick.   
Absent (Excused):  Ted Horne, Mike Slavney. Also Present: City Planner Mich, City Attorney Draper, City Administrator 
Oborn, Building and Zoning Administrator Walling, Building & Zoning Administrative Assistant Follensbee.  
 
Approve the Minutes of April 17 and May 15, 2017 Plan Commission meeting as distributed. 
Kupsik/Skates motion to approve.  Motion carried 5 to 0. 
 
Comments from the public as allowed by Wis. Stats. §19.84(2), limited to items on this agenda, except for public 
hearing items. Comments will to be limited to 5 minutes.   
 
Candace Kirchberg, 917 Marshall Street, Lake Geneva, thanked everyone regarding the Associated Bank project for 
considering the neighbors by proposing a landscaping plan to minimize the noise while being aesthetically pleasing. 
Candace also thanked Karen Klipp for taking into consideration the neighborhood and wanting to bring families to the 
area.  
 
Acknowledgement of Correspondence.   
Correspondence was received from Kwik Trip supporting the rezoning and conditional use permit for a new bank on the 
lots at 916 Marshall Street and 728 Williams Street.  Correspondence was received from Bill Chesen in support of the 
addition and deck at 905 Platt Avenue filed by Steven and Leah Andersen.  Correspondence was received from the 
National Association of Realtors with information on home rentals.  Correspondence was received from Trish Schaefer 
opposing Commercial Indoor Lodging. 
 
Downtown Design Review. 
 
Application by Matt Morgan, 212 Hidden Trail, Elkhorn, WI  53121, to add 2 signs: one projecting sign and one 
wall mounted sign at 231 Cook Street, Tax Key No. ZOP00253. 
Zoning Administrator Walling has worked with Matt Morgan to choose historic colors for his signs. The designs of the 
projecting sign and the wall mounted sign meet our downtown design overlay standards. The wall mounted sign also 
meets the size requirements of downtown design. Planner Mich stated all projecting signs (90 degrees from the wall) are 
limited to 3 sq. ft. The proposed projecting sign is 4.2 sq. ft. The Planning Commission is asking for a condition of 
approval that they reduce the projecting sign to 3 sq. ft. 
 
Kupsik/Gibbs motion to approve and include all staff recommendations and the change in size of the projecting sign.   
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 5 to 0. 
 
Application by Kathy  & Thomas George, 3383 S. Shore Drive, Delavan, WI  53115, to change the exterior of a 
brick building at 832 Geneva Street, Tax Key No. ZOP00252.   
Thomas George shared their vision to update the exterior of the building. They are requesting to override the statute for 
painting a brick building. The brick is very old and they feel a power washer would cause further erosion to the brick.  
They would like to paint the brick to seal it instead. Another option would be to recover it with hardy board siding which 
they have done at another building downtown. Since it is a residential building, they would like to keep the home aspect 
of the building and paint the brick. Zoning Administrator Walling shared information regarding maintenance and removal 
of paint from brick buildings by the State of Wisconsin. Thomas pointed out there are many brick buildings in the 
downtown district which have been painted and he feels painting the brick grey would help them stand out. 
 
Mr. Walling has walked around the building and the brick is not failing.  The brick could fail more quickly if painted or 
sealed. Guidelines state if brick is painted, it traps the moisture behind the brick. Wisconsin has frost freeze so water 

1 of 10 
June 19, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 



expands and cracks the brick.  In the downtown overlay ordinances, Lake Geneva wants to retain the historic character of 
the old brick buildings.  
 
Skates/Frederick motion to deny the application.   
Alderman Skates stated the brick is in great shape and painting any brick in Wisconsin will accelerate the disintegration of 
the brick face. His suggestion to the owner would be to put a cleaner on the brick which can be washed off. This cleaner 
will make a big difference without having to power wash the brick. Alderman Skates agrees with the ordinance and staff 
recommendations for this application. 
 
Roll Call for entire meeting was taken a second time since Ann Esarco arrived after the meeting began. 
Roll Call: Present: Mayor Kupsik, Alderman Doug Skates, John Gibbs, Ann Esarco, Sarah Hill, Tyler Frederick.   
Absent (Excused):  Ted Horne, Mike Slavney. Also Present: City Planner Mich, City Attorney Draper, City Administrator 
Oborn, Building and Zoning Administrator Walling, Building & Zoning Administrative Assistant Follensbee.  
 
Roll Call for 832 Geneva Street:  Skates, Esarco, Frederick, Walling (tie breaker) voting “yes.”  Motion carried 4 to 3 with 
Gibbs, Hill, Kupsik voting “no.” 
 
Application by Greg Odden, 705 Madison Street, Lake Geneva, WI  53147, to change the exterior of a brick 
building at 201 Wrigley Drive, Flat Iron Park.  
David Lindelow, Visit Lake Geneva, 527 Center Street, Lake Geneva, WI, wants to redo the Visitors Center as it is in bad 
shape. He was not aware of the brick painting controversy. They want to match the other structures surrounding the 
Visitors Center and would like to paint the brick a cream color similar to the adjacent Brunk Pavilion as well as update the 
roof structure. They realize the need to rethink the color of the roof if they have to keep the red brick.  
 
Commissioner Hill asked if the applicants were told they could not paint the brick. Zoning Administrator Walling stated 
the applicant was told during their discussion of this project that the bricks could not be painted. Ms. Hill asked if the 
previous applicant was told the brick could not be painted. Mr. Walling replied yes. 
 
Greg Odden has worked in historical construction for many years and acknowledges the concern of moisture in buildings. 
Moisture migrates from higher density to lower density which occurs in the winter. Owners have to stop the moisture 
from the inside and allow air movement between the framed structure and the brick with proper venting. The brick in this 
project is a hard fired brick which allows painting without de-lamination. The paint industry has adjusted so there are 
options which do not trap moisture in brick. 
 
Mayor Kupsik clarified with Mr. Walling the intent of the application was for painting the outside of the building. Mr. 
Walling stated the application request was for painting the brick, repairing the roof and updating windows. The roof and 
window requests can move forward immediately with permits which do not need review.   
 
Commissioner Hill asked Mr. Walling for his suggestion for this application. Mr. Walling stated they should paint the 
wood and leave the brick as is. Administrator Oborn stated the roof would be an improvement. Mayor Kupsik reiterated 
the application request is for painting the brick.  
 
Skates/Esarco motion to deny the application. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Esarco, Frederick, voting “yes.”  Motion carried 5 to 1 with Hill voting “no.”  
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Conditional Use Application (CUP) filed by Jeffrey Walski, 1452  
Sunrise Trail, Lyons, WI 53105, for an Indoor Commercial Entertainment land use and Outdoor Commercial 
Entertainment land use for a health café at 264 Center Street, Tax Key No. ZOP00259. 
Jeff Walski wants to open an organic foods café. Planner Mich stated this application involves a Conditional Use Permit 
for Indoor Commercial Entertainment and Outdoor Commercial Entertainment for outdoor seating on the site which will 
remain on site and not encroach into the public right of way.  Alderman Skates asked the applicant about the items served 
at this café. Mr. Walski said the café will have food such as smoothies, wraps, cafés, and sandwiches with organic 
ingredients without GMO’s. 
 
Hill/Skates motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 

2 of 10 
June 19, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 



 
Kupsik/Frederick motion to approve the Conditional Use Permit for Indoor Commercial Entertainment Land Use and staff 
recommendation and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Kupsik/Gibbs motion to approve the Conditional Use Permit for Outdoor Commercial Entertainment Land Use and staff 
recommendation and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Downtown Design Application by Jeffrey Walski, 1452 Sunrise Trail, Lyons, WI 53105, to replace lettering on  
awning and add window decal sign at 264 Center Street, Tax Key No. ZOP00259. 
Planner Mich stated the Marigold yellow color requested in the application shall be used for the window decal along with 
the lime green. The bright yellow is not allowed.  
 
Skates/Esarco motion to approve and include all staff recommendations and fact finding.   
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Zoning Map Amendment filed by Matt Schroeder of Associated Bank, 
10701 National Avenue, West Allis, WI 53227, to change the zoning from General Business and Single Family 
Residential-4 to Neighborhood Business at 728 Williams Street, Tax Key No. Tax Key No. ZRA00034 and 916 
Marshall Street, Tax Key No. ZRA00033. 
Steve Rolfe, Midland Commercial Development, presented the zoning change for the proposed Associated Bank site. 
Steve Rolfe and Andrew Kerr met with people in the neighborhood and Alderwoman Cindy Flowers to hear their input for 
this project.  Mr. Rolfe’s team has addressed the neighbor’s concerns in their design. The goal is to begin site work by mid 
August. Mr. Rolfe restated the requested the zoning change. 
 
Speaker 1: Robert Klabunde, 308 Carlton Court, Genoa City, WI, owns the property across the street, 721 Williams 
Street, and asked if the current parking on the west side of the street will remain. Mr. Walling replied the stalls would 
remain. 
 
Skates/Hill motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Hill/Kupsik motion to approve and include staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 5 to 1 with Gibbs voting “no.”  
 
CSM Lot Combination Review filed by Matt Schroeder of Associated Bank, 10701 National Avenue, West Allis, 
WI 53227, for 728 Williams Street, Tax Key No. Tax Key No. ZRA00034 and 916 Marshall Street, Tax Key No. 
ZRA00033. 
Steve Rolfe is requesting a combined CSM for the Associated Bank Project. Planner Mich stated staff has approved the 
proposed CSM subject to compliance with detailed technical review comments provided by the City’s consulting 
engineer, Kapur and Associates.  
 
Kupsik/Frederick motion to approve and include staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 5 to 1 with Gibbs voting “no.” 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Conditional Use Permit filed by Matt Schroeder of Associated Bank, 
10701 National Avenue, West Allis, WI 53227, for a drive-through In-Vehicle Sales and Service land use for a 
proposed Associated Bank at 728 Williams Street, Tax Key No. Tax Key No. ZRA00034 and 916 Marshall Street, 
Tax Key No. ZRA00033. 
Andrew Kerr, Architect for Rinka Chung, Milwaukee, presented the exterior of the bank and site plan for the drive-thru. 
The exit to the alley will be a one way lane and has a jog to provide a buffer for the neighbors. The number of plantings 
was increased on the northwest corner of the site to provide screening the bright lights from Kwik Trip. Most bright green 
colored panels have been eliminated from the building exterior. All signs in back of bank have been omitted so the 
neighbors are not affected. The side yard was increased by 10’ with heavy landscaping for privacy.  
 

3 of 10 
June 19, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 



Speaker 1: Cindy Flower, 533 Haskins Street, Lake Geneva, thanked the developer and architect for meeting with 
residents and making modifications to their plan. Ms. Flower asked for construction to be done during the hours found in 
our ordinances. 
 
Kupsik/Skates motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Skates/Hill motion to approve and include staff recommendations and fact finding.  
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 5 to 1 with Gibbs voting “no.”  
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation of a Zoning Map Amendment/General Development Plan filed by Steven  
and Leah Andersen, 905 Platt Avenue, Lake Geneva, WI 53147, to expand the buildable envelope and construct a 
three-season porch and deck at the rear of the home at 905 Platt Avenue, Tax Key No. ZCOT00008. 
Steve Andersen seeks approval for a zoning map amendment. Planner Mich described the need to change the buildable 
pad to allow building a three-season room and deck. This property is located in an existing Planned Development and 
requires an amendment. This amendment would be unique to this property and Plan Commission is not legally bound to 
grant this request to other properties in the Planned Development. 
 
Speaker 1: Mark Altera, 846 Kenna Lane, on behalf of the Woodlands Condo Association, asked if this request is granted, 
would the building ordinances address the additional run-off from the project. Zoning Administrator Walling stated when 
the owner expands their building, they are responsible to maintain the waters that land on their property. 
 
Kupsik/Frederick motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Skates/Hill motion to approve and state the owner is responsible to maintain the water shed on their property and include 
staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on an amendment to a Precise Implementation Plan filed by Steven and 
Leah Andersen, 905 Platt Avenue, Lake Geneva, WI 53147, to expand the buildable envelope and construct a 
three-season porch and deck at the rear of the home at 905 Platt Avenue, Tax Key No. ZCOT00008. 
Steve presented the construction plans for the three-season room and the deck. 
 
Skates/Hill motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Gibbs/Esarco motion to approve and include staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Conditional Use Permit filed by Fairwyn Ltd, 875 Townline Road Ste 
103, Lake Geneva, WI 53147 to utilize setbacks for the Single Family Residential–4 zoning district in the Estate 
Residential–1 zoning district (as enabled by Section 98-407(3) of the Zoning Ordinance) at 930 Bayview Drive, Tax 
Key No. ZGB00026. 
Brian Pollard, Fairwyn, 875 Townline Road, requesting the use of SR-4 setbacks in an ER-1 zoning district for a home 
remodel.  
 
Speaker 1: Virginia Magda, 1878 Geneva Bay Drive, wanted to know the difference between the setbacks for ER-1 and 
SR-4. She also asked how close something can be built off the common property line since the tennis courts are shared by 
the two properties.  
 
Kupsik/Skates motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Kupsik/Skates motion to approve and include staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 

4 of 10 
June 19, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 



Public Hearing and Recommendation on Zoning Map Amendment/General Development Plan filed by Steven R. 
and Jen C. Evans, 763 Ivy Oaks Drive, Caledonia, IL, 61011 to establish a Commercial Indoor Lodging land use 
(vacation rental home) at 717 Geneva Street, Tax Key No. ZOP00160. 
Steve and Jen Evans own the home at 717 Geneva Street. The 1st floor was used for business and the 2nd floor was a 
residential space. His son uses the 2nd floor as a living space and they want to construct a 1st floor unit for short term 
rental.  
 
Hill/Kupsik motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Kupsik/Esarco motion to approve and include staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Precise Implementation Plan filed by Steven R. and Jen C. Evans, 763 
Ivy Oaks Drive, Caledonia, IL, 61011 to confirm zoning flexibilities to establish a Commercial Indoor Lodging land 
use (vacation rental home) at 717 Geneva Street, Tax Key No. ZOP00160. 
Steve Evans plans to rent out this 1st floor unit as a short term vacation rental. Planner Mich stated the site plan was 
approved for vacation rental and Commercial Indoor Lodging land use is allowed with a valid Conditional Use. 
 
Hill/Skates motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Hill/Kupsik motion to approve and include staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Conditional Use Permit filed by Steven R. and Jen C. Evans, 763 Ivy  
Oaks Drive, Caledonia, IL, 61011 to establish a Commercial Indoor Lodging land use (vacation rental home) at 
717 Geneva Street, Tax Key No. ZOP00160. 
Steve Evans wants to establish the 1st floor unit for short term vacation rental which requires construction. 
Commissioner Hill asked about the regulations of Commercial Indoor Lodging. Alderman Skates referred to the staff 
recommendations, Section 98-206(4)(k) pertaining to Commercial Indoor Lodging land uses. Zoning Administrator 
Walling asked if the 2nd floor had 1 or 2 exits. Mr. Evans answered the property had 1 exit. Mr. Walling stated the 2nd 
floor needs 2 exits to comply with the building code. 
 
Speaker 1: Mary Jo Fesenmaier, 1085 S Lake Shore Dr, Lake Geneva, asked if the Conditional Use stays with the 
property (regular) or the owner (limited). She asks for a limited (owner) CUP. 
 
Speaker 2: Karen Klipp, 7345 Hollow Drive, Lake Geneva, doesn’t think limiting the Conditional Use to the owner will 
not help the resale of the property. 
  
Kupsik/Skates motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Skates/Kupsik motion to approve, to limit this Conditional Use to the applicant, the 2nd floor needs a 2nd exit and include 
staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Zoning Map Amendment/General Development Plan filed by Karen 
Klipp, 7345 Hollow Drive, Lake Geneva, WI 53147 to confirm zoning flexibilities to establish two Commercial 
Indoor Lodging land uses (vacation rental homes) at 824 Williams Street, Tax Key No. ZRA00018. 
Karen Klipp, 7345 Hollow Drive, Lake Geneva, is asking for a zoning amendment for her property which has two 
buildings. Planner Mich stated the applicant is asking for flexibility to have two buildings on the property which includes 
3 different lots and flexibility in the ordinance for the location of customer entrances from any residential structure.  
 
Speaker 1: Paul Storeck, lives west of this property, asked the owner to extend the chain link fence to the alley. People 
park in his driveway. Commissioner Frederick referenced the privacy fence on the plans. Zoning Administrator Walling 
cautioned the vision triangle has to be addressed. 
 

5 of 10 
June 19, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 



Hill/Kupsik motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Hill/Kupsik motion to approve and include staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Precise Implementation Plan filed by Karen Klipp, 7345 Hollow Drive, 
Lake Geneva, WI 53147 to confirm zoning flexibilities to establish two Commercial Indoor Lodging land uses 
(vacation rental homes) at 824 Williams Street, Tax Key No. ZRA00018. 
Planner Mich stated the site plan is addressed and shared the staff recommendations for this application. 
 
Speaker 1: Cindy Flower, 533 Haskin Street, Lake Geneva, had concerns about the final site plan not being available to 
the public. Zoning Administrator Walling stated the official documents are kept in the city clerk’s office. The secondary 
documents are convenience documents. The notices state that anyone can come to City Hall to view any projects on the 
agenda. Commissioner Gibbs asked about the flexibility for customer entrances facing residential buildings. Mayor 
Kupsik stated that the distance of these entrances from residential buildings shall be stated for the application process. 
 
Kupsik/Hill motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Kupsik/Esarco motion to approve and include staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Conditional Use Permit filed by Karen Klipp, 7345 Hollow Drive, Lake 
Geneva, WI 53147 to establish a Commercial Indoor Lodging land use (vacation rental home) at 824 Williams 
Street, Tax Key No. ZRA00018. 
Planner Mich read conditions for the applicant from the staff recommendations.  Karen Klipp asked for the Conditional 
Use to be with the property. 
 
Speaker 1: Mary Jo Fesenmaier, 1085 S Lake Shore Drive, Lake Geneva, asked the Plan Commission for the CUP to be 
with the applicant. Commissioner Gibbs asks for the Plan Commission to be consistent with the Conditional Use Permits. 
 
Kupsik/Gibbs motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Skates/Kupsik motion to approve the CUP application, specific to the applicant, have the western fence extended to the 
poles and include staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Zoning Map Amendment/General Development Plan filed by Chris 
Law, Geneva Lakes Christian Church, W2906 Willow Road, Lake Geneva, WI 53147, to amend the Zoning Map 
from the SR-4 Single-Family zoning district to Planned Development for a new worship facility at 1015 N. 
Bloomfield Road, Tax Key Nos. ZSF00232 and ZSF00231. 
Bill Henry, Kehoe-Henry & Associates, Elkhorn, on behalf of Geneva Lakes Christian Church. Pastor Chris Law is 
looking to build a new worship facility.  
 
Kupsik/Skates motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Kupsik/Hill motion to approve and include staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Planner Mich stated staff is recommending approval on flexibilities 1-6 but has additional comments on flexibilities 7-8. 
Flexibility 7, staff is allowing the on-site paving over a 2 year span but the staff requests 50 ft of the driveway to be paved 
within 6 months to reduce dirt tracking on Harmony Drive. Flexibility 8 – applicant is requesting 2 - free standing signs. 
Staff does not want to grant 2 - free standing signs since it has not approved it before. Staff believes the height of the 
building and steeple provides enough visibility. Zoning Administrator Walling wanted to verify that recycled asphalt 
would be used in the paving for the parking lot.  Mr. Henry stated in the PIP application they have agreed to live with the 
one year completion of the black topping.  They can certainly accommodate the request for the recycled asphalt for some 
of the base material.   
 

6 of 10 
June 19, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 



Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on a Precise Implementation Plan filed by Chris Law, Geneva Lakes 
Christian Church, W2906 Willow Road, Lake Geneva, WI 53147, to construct a new worship facility at 1015 N. 
Bloomfield Road, Tax Key Nos. ZSF00232 and ZSF00231. 
Bill Henry, Kehoe-Henry & Associates, Elkhorn, on behalf of Geneva Lakes Christian Church, apologized about the draft 
application that was submitted in May.  He noted additional parking drawings came in for the final application which 
caused the site plan to get renumbered, and the parking calculations got left off of the drawing.  The parking requirements 
as calculated in both the GDP application and the draft PIP was based on a worship area capacity of 230 which at 1 stall 
per 5 would be 46 stalls.  The church will have 3 employees, so a total of 49 stalls are required.  They are proposing 54.  
The staff report shows 77 stalls were required.  He questioned why that was.  Planner Mich said she was not sure where 
that number came from.  Mr. Henry said the initial proposal had a larger number so perhaps that is what it could be.   
 
Mr. Henry also addressed the fire hydrant.  They would prefer to have it 60ft away rather than 50ft as there is no place 
within 50ft without having it by the front corner of the church.  He noted Lieutenant Detkowski from the Fire Department 
stated he did not see an issue with that at the May 15th meeting.  He was questioning why that was being denied.  Mayor 
Kupsik said they can make that contingent upon the Fire Department’s approval.  Mr. Henry also addressed the two 
monument signs.  The PIP has been revised.  The monument sign needs to be quite large because it will be off of 
Bloomfield and Harmony Dr a significant distance to accommodate the vision triangle as well as the setbacks due to the 
right of ways.  They are also requesting a directional sign.  Mayor Kupsik noted the smaller sign would be considered a 
directional sign.  Mr. Skates stated this is only an indicator and is on their property.  Ms. Mich stated they are permitted 
one sign per entrance but it can be no more than 9 square feet and the logo must be less than 1 square foot.  Mr. Henry 
gave an overview of the materials planned for the outside of the building.      
 
Kupsik/Skates motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Kupsik/Skates motion to approve and include all staff recommendations including the location of the fire hydrant, the use 
of recycled asphalt for the driveway, one monument sign and one directional sign placed on the property to be compliant 
with the City’s ordinance, findings of fact, and items mentioned during the public hearing. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation to amend the Precise Implementation Plan / Conditional Use Permit filed by 
Lake Geneva Tennis Club LLC, 630 Veterans Pkwy, to expand a parking lot for a Physical Activity Studio land 
use (indoor tennis complex) at 630 Veterans Parkway, Tax Key Nos. ZLGBP200029, ZLGBP200030, 
ZLGBP200031, ZLGBP200032, &  ZLGBP200033. 
Speaker 1:  Thomas Connolly, Autumn Wood Financial Corporation in Walworth, WI, represents Lake Geneva Tennis 
Club.  This application was submitted because they need extra parking.  This would add 10 parking spots.  Mr. Oborn said 
the business is having growth needs, so he feels this is advantageous for them and the City.   
 
Speaker 2:  Cindy Flower, 533 Haskins St, commented on the site.  She suggested revisiting the percent impervious as 
they are adding additional parking and the potential expansion of the outdoor tennis courts be revisited in relationship to 
the additional imperviousness that we are proposing to add.   There was discussion in the past about tournaments which 
may require additional parking.   
  
Hill/Kupsik motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Mr. Gibbs stated he would like the landscaping to be cleaned up.  Ms. Mich noted staff is recommending at least 40 new 
landscaping points be provided because the paving area is increasing.     
 
Skates/Kupsik motion to approve including all staff recommendations and findings of fact. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation of a Conditional Use Permit filed by Reeds Construction LLC, W3199 S 
Lake Shore Drive, Lake Geneva, WI  53147, to construct a new boat slip at 1084 LaGrange Drive, Tax Key No. 
ZLE00003. 

7 of 10 
June 19, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 



Jeff with Reeds Construction located at W3199 S Lake Shore Dr, is representing Michael Lynch.  Mr. Lynch would like 
to put a slip on to his pier.  It is 13 feet off the lot line which is a DNR requirement.  Mr. Oborn asked the applicant if they 
had done the permit yet with the DNR.  Jeff noted they are in the process and believes they are in the 30 day waiting 
period. 
 
Kupsik/Skates motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Kupsik/Gibbs motion to approve to include all staff recommendations, fact finding, and contingent upon approval of the 
DNR permit. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation of a Conditional Use Permit filed by Julie Selby, 800 N Blue Spruce Circle,  
Hartland, WI  53029, for Indoor Commercial Entertainment for a studio at 262 Center Street, Tax Key No. 
ZOP00259. 
Ms. Mich noted this is a Board & Brush Creative Studio which was previously located at 252 Center St.  This will be a 
new location with different site conditions.  The applicant did not provide information pertaining to anticipated class sizes, 
floor plans, and types of paint materials to be used during classes.  Staff does not have any issues with the proposed land 
use in this location.  They recommend approval of the conditional use provided that they use only paints and lacquers 
certified to be low voc or water based.  Mayor Kupsik would feel more comfortable continuing this to the next meeting in 
order to have the applicant there to answer any questions or make any comments.  Mr. Oborn stated the applicant went 
through this process for the first establishment, so they are fully aware.  He and the Building & Zoning Administrative 
Assistant have had conversations with them.    
 
Gibbs/Skates motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Hill/Esarco motion to approve including all staff recommendations and fact finding in the affirmative. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Hartz, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Downtown Design Application by Julie Selby, 800 N Blue Spruce Circle, Hartland, WI  53029, for vinyl window 
decals and a wood sign to the exterior of the building at 262 Center Street, Tax Key No. ZOP00259. 
Hill/Skates motion to approve to include all staff recommendations. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Hartz, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation of a Conditional Use Permit filed by Halvar Petersen, 507 Broad Street,  
Lake Geneva, WI  53147, for Indoor Commercial Entertainment for a Bakery/Patisserie at 252 Center Street,  
Tax Key No. ZOP00258. 
 Ms. Mich emphasized this does not involve baking onsite.  The items are all produced off site and sold on the premises.  
There is no proposed seating.  No signage or exterior modifications are proposed to the building.  Staff recommends that 
no additional conditions of approval be attached and recommends approval.   
 
Speaker 1:  Mary Jo Fesenmaier, 1085 S Lake Shore Dr, stated the applicant was there but had to run home to let out his 
puppy. 
 
Gibbs/Frederick motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Skates/Hill motion to approve to include all staff recommendations and finding of fact in the affirmative. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Hartz, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation of a Conditional Use Permit filed by Halvar Petersen, 507 Broad Street,  
Lake Geneva, WI  53147, for Indoor Commercial Entertainment for a Coffee School at 252 Center Street,  
Tax Key No. ZOP00258. 
Ms. Mich stated this will be just across the hall from the previous item.  This will be a by appointment only coffee school.  
They will be holding classes on coffee roasting, coffee origins, etc.  Seating is proposed for up to 20 individuals.  No 
signage or changes to the exterior of the building are proposed.   
 

8 of 10 
June 19, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 



Skates/Kupsik motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Esarco/Frederick motion to approve including all staff recommendations and findings of fact.  
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Hartz, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation of a Conditional Use Permit filed by Jes Bush-Christenson, 1515 Dodge 
Street, Lake Geneva, WI  53147, for Outdoor Commercial Entertainment at 747 W. Main Street, Tax Key No. 
ZOP00271. 
Ms. Mich noted this is for Champs Sports Bar & Grill on Main Street.  They have been using the temporary permit 
process to approve acoustic musical performances once in a while.  Rather than go through that process all the time, they 
are going through the conditional use process to approve outdoor commercial entertainment with more regularity.  She is 
not aware of any issues that have stemmed from this use.  Staff recommends approval with the following conditions:  
music or other activities shall comply with the noise standards of Section 98-709, conditional use permit is limited to 
acoustic outdoor performances as depicted on the site plan during the hours of 2:00pm and 8:00pm any day of the week, 
and this permit does not include amplified sounds or music.   
 
Kupsik/Hill motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Kupsik/Esarco motion to approve to include all staff recommendations and fact finding. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Hartz, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation of a Conditional Use Permit filed by Curt Langille, Lanco Builders, Inc., 813 
Eagleton Drive, Lake Geneva, WI  53147, to use SR-4 Setbacks in ER-1 zoning district at 837 Bayview Drive, Tax 
Key No. ZGB00007. 
Curt Langille, Owner of Lanco Builders, noted he is the Builder/Developer working with the current Homeowners.  They 
are looking for the SR-4 zoning for this property.  It is an existing home that was built in the late 1950s.  They are looking 
to build a new home on the property.   
 
Kupsik/Skates motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Kupsik/Esarco motion to approve to include all staff recommendations and fact findings. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Hartz, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
Public Hearing and Recommendation on an amendment to the Zoning Ordinance proposed by the City of Lake 
Geneva to include the Commercial Indoor Lodging land use (per Section 98-206(4)(k)) as a conditional use in the 
Neighborhood Office and Neighborhood Business zoning districts. 
Ms. Mich noted the idea of allowing commercial indoor lodging which includes hotels but would also include vacation 
rental homes as a conditional use in the neighborhood office and neighborhood business zoning districts has been 
discussed in the past.  There are deeper setbacks and maximum building size requirements which will preclude a Marriott 
or Hyatt going into these districts. There were concerns about what the impact would be. This would still be a conditional 
use permit. 
 
Speaker 1:  Mary Jo Fesenmaier, 1085 S Lake Shore Dr, read concerns from another resident. The resident was concerned 
about the front door with regard to setbacks, the back deck with regard to noise, and if the conditional use goes to the 
property, the applicant, or the owner.  The resident feels the layout of the property inside allows for many more guests 
than may rent the property.  Mary asked for this to be tabled for a month, so other community members can state their 
concerns.  She would like a notice to be mailed to the residents that are identified in the packet or further.  She would like 
to see the hotels full especially because of room tax. 
 
Ms. Mich added the commission could amend the proposed text change to make the conditional use permit limited to the 
applicant.  City Attorney Draper suggested they not table it, but continue it if they wish. Commissioner Hill suggested 
moving forward as is. 
 
Kupsik/Hill motion to close the public hearing.  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 

9 of 10 
June 19, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 



Hill motions to approve.  Motion fails due to lack of a second. 
 
Mr. Skates questioned what the drive is to do this.  Ms. Mich stated the City had received numerous requests for indoor 
commercial lodging in structures that are homes or used to be homes that are being operated as a business.   
 
Skates/Gibbs motion to table this item.  
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hartz, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 1 with Hill voting “no.” 
 
Comprehensive Plan Strategy and Procedures for amending the City of Lake Geneva’s 2017 Comprehensive Plan. 
Ms. Mich noted the City is doing its annual process to amend the Comprehensive Plan.  The same process is used to 
amend the plan as is used to adopt a new plan.   
 
Kupsik/Esarco motion to adopt the resolution as included in the packet. 
Roll Call:  Kupsik, Skates, Gibbs, Hill, Hartz, Esarco, Frederick voting “yes.”  Motion carried 6 to 0. 
 
 
Adjournment.  Gibbs/Skates motion to adjourn at 9:50pm.  Motion carried 6 to 0.   
 
 
        
/s/ Stephanie Gunderson, Assistant City Clerk 
 

THESE ARE NOT OFFICIAL MINUTES UNTIL APPROVED BY THE PLAN COMMISSION 

10 of 10 
June 19, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 
 



 1 

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date:  July 17, 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Applicant:      
Melissa L. Reuss     150 Broad Street 

Request: 

150 Broad Street     Downtown Design Review 
Lake Geneva, WI 53147    Awning Review 
   
 
 

The applicant is submitting an application for Downtown Design Review to review the proposed awning 
as submitted. 

Description: 

 
The property is subject to Downtown Design review. The City reviews all changes in the Downtown to 
confirm that they conform to the Downtown Design standards; particularly quantity, size, and color 
requirements. In the Plan Commission Packet, the applicant has submitted the proposed awning with 
color renditions which meets the size and has identified the color to be used which was selected from the 
Historic Color provided by the Benjamin Moore Company.  
 
The proposed awning is identified in the photos to be re-located on the building as the current location 
of the existing awning.  
 

The proposed change does meet the requirements of the Downtown Design Overlay Zoning district. 
Staff’s recommendation is that the proposed awning to be approved. 

Staff Recommendation: 

Agenda Item #6a. 











 1 

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date:  July 17, 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Applicant:      
Nicolas Carone      272 Broad Street 

Request: 

177 Valencia Parkway     Downtown Design Review 
Gilberts, IL  60136     Signage Review 
   
 
 

The applicant is submitting an application for Downtown Design Review to review the proposed sign as 
submitted. 

Description: 

 
The property is subject to Downtown Design review. The City reviews all signs in the Downtown to 
confirm that they conform to the Downtown Design standards; particularly quantity, size, and color 
requirements. In the Plan Commission Packet, the applicant has submitted the sign which meets the size 
and has identified the color to be used which was selected from the Historic Color provided by the 
Benjamin Moore Company.  
 
The projecting sign is located on the building directly above the existing widow awnings.  
 

The proposed sign does meet the requirements of the Downtown Design Overlay Zoning district. Staff’s 
recommendation is the proposed sign to be approved. 

Staff Recommendation: 

Agenda Item #6b. 









 1 

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date:  July 17, 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Applicant:      
Greg Odden      201 Wrigley Drive 

Request: 

705 Madison Street     Downtown Design Review 
Lake Geneva, WI  53147    Change to Exterior color 
   
 
 

The applicant is submitting an application for Downtown Design Review to alter the color of the 
exterior façade, window frames and trim. 

Description: 

 
The property originally submitted in June to paint the exterior which was denied. 
 
The applicants took the direction of the Plan Commission and amended the original request to only alter 
the wood façade in addition update the windows to include replacing the roof. 
 
The applicants identified the historic colors to be used on the exterior wood siding that is going to be 
replaced with a conforming installation in accordance with the Downtown Design Overlay 
specifications. 
 

The proposed installation is an allowable construction and staff recommends approving as requested. 
Staff Recommendation: 

Agenda Item #6c. 













420 Elmwood Avenue GDP/PIP - Page 1 of 3 
 

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date:  July 17, 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The applicant is submitting a request to consider a Planned Development for the property located at 420 
Elmwood Ave which is located in the S-4 Zoning Classification which will require tow approvals. This 
memo will suffice to review both requests the two step request to approve are:  

Description: 

1. General Development Plan 
2. Precise Implementation Plan 

The applicants were issued a building permit which was reviewed and inspected by a previous Lake 
Geneva inspector. The permit was issued in error. 

The applicants were later notified the building was a non-conforming structure after the project was 
completed. They were informed by the interim-inspector the building was too high and too close to the 
allowed setbacks for an accessory structure. 

The applicants identified in their request that the building was to be used as an office with bathroom area 
above the garage as identified and labeled on the plans that were approved on 3/31/16 by inspector 
Robers. 

Staff’s recommendation is to continue with the Planned Development process to allow the building to 
remain as built however identify the building is not to be used by any other uses than what was 
originally applied for and approved as of 3/31/16 by the applicant as “Office and Bathroom”. 

- No sleeping areas allowed   -  
- No Vacation Rental Permitted   - 

There currently is only 1 exit from the second floor area of the garage therefore does not allow for 
sleeping facilities in accordance with the building codes.  
 

Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed Planned Development (PD) 
Action by the Plan Commission: 

As part of the consideration of the requested PD, the Plan Commission is required to: 

• Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed CUP; 

Applicant
Mark & Jeanne Hathaway 

: 

420 Elmwood Ave 
Lake Geneva, WI 53147 

Request
Proposed Planned Development  

: 

GDP / PIP  
 

Agenda Item #7 a & b 



420 Elmwood Avenue GDP/PIP - Page 2 of 3 
 

• Include findings required by the Zoning Ordinance for CUPs; and, 
• Provide specific suggested requirements to modify the project as submitted. 

 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the proposed Planned 
Development. 

Staff Review Comments: 

2. Staff recommends the Plan Commission adopt the affirmative set of findings provided above. 
3. Staff recommends that the following conditions be attached: 

a. The structure is never used as a sleeping area or rental property (vacation or apartment) 
of which primary use would allow overnight sleeping quarters. The identified area does 
not meet the building codes to allow for required number of emergency egress points to 
grade which is a significant life safety concern. 

b. All movable accessory structures currently on the property shall be located a minimum 3’ 
from the property line as required in the S-4 zoning Classification.  

 

A proposed PD must be reviewed by the standards, below: 

Required Plan Commission Findings on the PD for Recommendation to the Common Council: 

A. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend approval, then the appropriate 
fact finding would be all of the following: 

1.  In general, the proposed Planned Development is in harmony

2.  Specific to this site, the proposed Planned Development 

 with the purposes, goals, objectives, 
policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any other plan, 
program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the City. 

is in harmony

3.  The proposed Planned Development in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site 
plan 

 with the purposes, goals, 
objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 
other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by 
the City. 

does not result

4.  The proposed Planned Development 

 in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of 
the neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, public 
property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or general welfare, 
either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a result of the 
implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan or any other 
plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the 
City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development. 

maintains

5.  The proposed Planned Development 

 the desired consistency of land uses, land use 
intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

is located in an area

6.  The potential public benefits of the proposed Planned Development 

 that will be adequately served by, and 
will not impose an undue burden on any improvements, facilities, utilities or services provided by 
public agencies serving the subject property. 

outweigh all potential 
adverse impacts of the proposed Planned Development after taking into consideration the 



420 Elmwood Avenue GDP/PIP - Page 3 of 3 
 

Applicant’s proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such 
impacts. 

B. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend denial, then the appropriate fact 
finding would be one or more

1.  In general, the proposed Planned Development 

 of the following: 

is not in harmony

2.  Specific to this site, the proposed Planned Development 

 with the purposes, goals, 
objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 
other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by 
the City. 

is not in harmony

3.  The proposed Planned Development in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site 
plan 

 with the purposes, 
goals, objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, 
and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official 
notice by the City. 

does result

4.  The proposed Planned Development 

 in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of the 
neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, public 
property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or general welfare, 
either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a result of the 
implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan or any other 
plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the 
City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development. 

does not maintain

5.  The proposed Planned Development 

 the desired consistency of land uses, land 
use intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

is not located in an area

6.  The potential public benefits of the proposed Planned Development 

 that will be adequately served by, 
and will impose an undue burden on any of the improvements, facilities, utilities or services 
provided by public agencies serving the subject property. 

do not outweigh

 

 all potential 
adverse impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the Applicant’s 
proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such impacts. 

 

4. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the proposed Planned 
Development. 

Staff Recommendation on the Proposed Planned Development Permit: 

5. Staff recommends the Plan Commission adopt the affirmative set of findings provided above. 
6. Staff recommends that the following conditions be attached: 

a. The structure shall never be used as a sleeping area or rental property (vacation or 
apartment) which primary use would allow overnight sleeping quarters. The area does not 
meet the building codes to allow for proper emergency egress. 
 



















































411 Interchange North CUP - Page 1 of 3 
 

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date:  July 17, 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The applicant is submitting a request to amend the existing Conditional Use Permit (CUP) site plan to 
renovate two existing parking stalls to allow for additional exterior waiting area, located at 411 
Interchange North. The City has previously approved CUP for this site, in order to permit the 
amendment staff has identified the current site is lacking in required parking stalls, and after discussions 
with the applicant and they provided the standing contract they have with the adjacent neighbor to rent 
areas for overflow parking. 

Description: 

The property is zoned Planned Business. No outdoor lighting is proposed. No permanent or structural 
changes are proposed to the exterior of the existing building only converting two parking spaces to 
outdoor waiting area. All activities will occur on private property.  

 

Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed amendment to the Conditional Use Permit 
(CUP): 

Action by the Plan Commission: 

As part of the consideration of the requested CUP, the Plan Commission is required to: 

• Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed CUP; 
• Include findings required by the Zoning Ordinance for CUPs; and, 
• Provide specific suggested requirements to modify the project as submitted. 

 

The proposed added exterior waiting area will have no impacts to neighborhoods are anticipated.  
Staff Review Comments: 

No lighting is proposed for the site. Staff notes that the Zoning Code allows for shielded full cutoff 
lighting fixtures are required in all other cases should they choose to add additional lighting in the 
future. 

The amendment to the conditional use permit is to allow for the addition of exterior space which will 
allow for additional exterior waiting area.   

Applicant
Rick Bittner 

: 

259 Skyline Dr 
Lake Geneva, WI 53147 

Request
Next Door Pub 

: 

411 Interchange North 
Proposed Conditional Use Site Plan Amendment 

Agenda Item #8. 



411 Interchange North CUP - Page 2 of 3 
 

Required Plan Commission Findings on the CUP for Recommendation to the Common Council: 

A proposed CUP must be reviewed by the standards, below: 

A. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend approval, then the appropriate 
fact finding would be all of the following: 

1.  In general, the proposed conditional use is in harmony with the purposes, goals, objectives, 
policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any other plan, 
program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the City. 

2.  Specific to this site, the proposed conditional use is in harmony with the purposes, goals, 
objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 
other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by 
the City. 

3.  The proposed conditional use in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site plan 
does not result in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of the 
neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, public 
property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or general welfare, 
either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a result of the 
implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan or any other 
plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the 
City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development. 

4.  The proposed conditional use maintains the desired consistency of land uses, land use intensities, 
and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

5.  The proposed conditional use is located in an area that will be adequately served by, and will not 
impose an undue burden on any improvements, facilities, utilities or services provided by public 
agencies serving the subject property. 

6.  The potential public benefits of the proposed conditional use outweigh all potential adverse 
impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the Applicant’s proposal 
and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such impacts. 

B. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend denial, then the appropriate fact 
finding would be one or more of the following: 

1.  In general, the proposed conditional use is not in harmony with the purposes, goals, objectives, 
policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any other plan, 
program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the City. 

2.  Specific to this site, the proposed conditional use is not in harmony with the purposes, goals, 
objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 
other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by 
the City. 

3.  The proposed conditional use in its proposed location, and as depicted on the required site plan 
does result in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of the 
neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, public 
property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or general welfare, 
either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as a result of the 
implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive Plan or any other 



411 Interchange North CUP - Page 3 of 3 
 

plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to official notice by the 
City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide development. 

4.  The proposed conditional use does not maintain the desired consistency of land uses, land use 
intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

5.  The proposed conditional use is not located in an area that will be adequately served by, and will 
impose an undue burden on any of the improvements, facilities, utilities or services provided by 
public agencies serving the subject property. 

6.  The potential public benefits of the proposed conditional use do not outweigh all potential 
adverse impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the Applicant’s 
proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such impacts. 

 
 
Staff Recommendation on the Proposed Conditional Use Permit: 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommendapproval of the proposed amendment to 
the existing conditional use as submitted, with the findings under A.1-6., above. 

2. Staff recommends the Plan Commission adopt the affirmative set of findings provided above. 





































 1 

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date:  June 19, 2017 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

This request is to approve a proposed amendment to the existing Certified Survey Map (CSM) to modify 
walk and culvert connection between the existing facilities and new facility along E Sheridan Springs 
Road. 

Description: 

The result of this CSM will be the installation of a dual use walk and equipment access with the 
proposed width of 10’ cross access in addition to the installation of a culvert, and with all of the 
minimum standards of the Planned Development (PD) zoning. 

 

The proposed CSM drawing is provided on one page on project No. 1650900 

Project Details from Submittal dated May 12, 2017 and revisions dated June 21, 2017 to include Excel 
Engineering Survey CSM : 

 

Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed Certified Survey Map (CSM) amendment: 
Action by the Plan Commission: 

As part of the consideration of the requested CSM, the Plan Commission is required to: 

• Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed CSM amendment. 
 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the CSM as submitted, 
subject to approval of the proposed zoning map amendment for both side walk and culvert 
installation; and subject to compliance with detailed technical review comments provided by the 
City’s consulting engineer. 

Staff Recommendation on the proposed Certified Survey Map (CSM) amendment: 

Agenda Item #9. 

Applicant: 
Brunk Industries Inc. 
1225 Sage Street 
Lake Geneva, WI. 53147 

Request: 
Amend the existing Certified Survey Map 
(CSM)  















APPLICATION SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 
PD STEP 4: PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN (PIP) 
 
Prior to submitting the 25 complete applications as certified by the Zoning Administrator, the 
Applicant shall submit 5 initial draft application packets for staff review, followed by one revised draft 
final application packet based upon staff review and comments. 
 
Initial Packet (5 Copies to Zoning Administrator) Date: ________ by: _____ 
     Draft Final Packet (1 Copy to Zoning Administrator) Date: ________ by: _____ 
  
____ ____ A. After the effective date of the rezoning to PD/GDP, the Applicant may file an 

application for the proposed PIP with the Plan Commission.  This submittal 
packet shall contain the following items, prior to its acceptance by the Zoning 
Administrator and placing the item on the Plan Commission agenda for PIP 
review. 

 
  ____ (1) A location map of the subject property and its vicinity at 11" x 17", as 

depicted on a copy of the City of Lake Geneva Land Use Plan Map; 
 
  ____ (2) A map of the subject property for which the PD is proposed: 
    ____Showing all lands within 300 feet of the boundaries of the subject 

property; 
    ____Referenced to a list of the names and addresses of the owners of 

all lands on said map as the same appear on the current records 
of the Register of Deeds of Walworth County (as provided by 
the City of Lake Geneva); 

    ____ Clearly indicating the current zoning of the subject property and 
its environs, and the jurisdiction(s) which maintains that 
control;  

     ____ Map and all its parts clearly reproducible with a photocopier; 
    ____Map size of 11" by 17" and map scale not less than one inch 

equals 800 feet; 
    ____All lot dimensions of the subject property provided; 
    ____Graphic scale and north arrow provided. 
 
  ____ (3) A general written description of proposed PIP including: 
    ____Specific project themes and images; 
    ____The specific mix of dwelling unit types and/or land uses; 
    ____Specific residential densities and non-residential intensities as 

described by dwelling units per acre, floor area ratio and 
impervious surface area ratio; 

    ____The specific treatment of natural features; 
    ____ The specific relationship to nearby properties and public streets. 
    ____ A Statement of Rationale as to why PD zoning is proposed 

identifying perceived barriers in the form of requirements of 
standard zoning districts and opportunities for community 
betterment through the proposed PD zoning. 

    ____ A complete list of zoning standards which will not be met by the 
proposed PIP and the location(s) in which they apply and a 
complete list of zoning standards which will be more than met 
by the proposed PIP and the location(s) in which they apply 
shall be identified.  Essentially, the purpose of this listing shall 

lisav
Typewritten Text

lisav
Accepted

lisav
Accepted

lisav
Typewritten Text
Included in original and approved PIP package.

lisav
Typewritten Text
Included in original and approved PIP package.

lisav
Typewritten Text
See Amendment Narrative



be to provide the Plan Commission with information necessary 
to determine the relative merits of the project in regard to 
private benefit versus public benefit, and in regard to the 
mitigation of potential adverse impacts created by design 
flexibility. 

 
  ____ (4)A Precise Implementation Plan Drawing at a minimum scale of 1"=100' 

(and reduced to 11" x 17") of the proposed project showing at least the 
following information in sufficient detail: (See following page) 

    ____ A PIP site plan conforming to all requirements of Section 98-
908(3). If the proposed PD is a group development (per 
Section 98-208) also provide a proposed preliminary plat or 
conceptual plat; 

    ____ Location of recreational and open space areas and facilities 
specifically describing those that are to be reserved or 
dedicated for public acquisition and use; 

    ____Statistical data on minimum lot sizes in the development, the 
precise areas of all development lots and pads, 
density/intensity of various parts of the development, floor 
area ratio, impervious surface area ratio and landscape surface 
area ratio of various land uses, expected staging, and any other 
plans required by the Plan Commission or City Council; and 

    ____ Notations relating the written information (3), above to specific 
areas on the GDP Drawing. 

   
  ____ (5)A landscaping plan for subject property, specifying the location, species, 

and installed size of all trees and shrubs.  Include a chart which 
provides a cumulative total for each species, type and required location 
(foundation, yard, street, paved area or bufferyard) of all trees and 
shrubs. 

 
  ____ (6)A series of building elevations for the entire exterior of all buildings in 

the PD, including detailed notes as to the materials and colors 
proposed. 

 
  ____ (7)A general signage plan including all project identification signs, concepts 

for public fixtures and signs (such as street light fixtures and/or poles 
or street sign faces and/or poles), and group development signage 
themes which are proposed to vary from City standards or common 
practices. 

 
  ____ (8)A general outline of the intended organizational structure for a 

property owners association, if any; deed restrictions and provisions 
for private provision of common services, if any. 

 
  ____ (9)A written description which demonstrates the full consistency of the 

proposed PIP with the approved GDP. 
 
  ____ (10)A written description of any and all variations between the requirements 

of the applicable PD/GDP zoning district and the proposed PIP 
development; and, 

 

lisav
Accepted

lisav
Typewritten Text
Amended Area Only

lisav
Typewritten Text
Included in original and approved PIP package.

lisav
Typewritten Text
Included in original and approved PIP package.

lisav
Typewritten Text
Included in original and approved PIP package.

lisav
Typewritten Text
Amended Area Only

lisav
Accepted

lisav
Accepted

lisav
Accepted

lisav
Typewritten Text
See Amendment Narrative

lisav
Typewritten Text
See Amendment Narrative



  ____ (11)Proof of financing capability pertaining to construction and 
maintenance and operation of public works elements of the proposed 
development. 

 
 
FINAL APPLICATION PACKET INFORMATION 
PD STEP 4: PRECISE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN (PIP) 
 
The process for review and approval of the PD shall be identical to that for conditional use permits 
per Section 98-905 of the Zoning Ordinance and (if land is to be divided) to that for preliminary and 
final plats of subdivision per the Municipal Code.  All portions of an approved PD/PIP not fully 
developed within five years of final City Council approval shall expire, and no additional PD-based 
development shall be permitted.  The City Council may extend this five years period by up to five 
additional years via a majority vote following a public hearing. 
 
____ Receipt of 5 full scale copies in blueline or blackline 
 of complete Final Application Packet by Zoning Administrator: Date: ________ by: _____ 
 
____ Receipt of 25 reduced (8.5" by 11" text and 11" x 17" graphics) 
 copies of complete Final Application Packet by Zoning Administrator: Date: ________ by: _____ 
 
____ Certification of complete Final Application Packet and 
              required copies to the Zoning Administrator by City Clerk: Date: ________ by: _____ 
 
____ Class 2 Legal Notice sent to official newspaper by City Clerk: Date: ________ by: _____ 
 
____ Class 2 Legal Notice published on _______________ and _______________ by: _____ 
 
 
 

lisav
Typewritten Text
Included in original and approved PIP package.

lisav
Typewritten Text
x

lisav
Typewritten Text
x

lisav
Typewritten Text

lisav
Typewritten Text
11x17



100 CAMELOT DRIVE
FOND DU LAC, WI 54935

920-926-9800
WWW.EXCELENGINEER.COM

ARCHITECTS • ENGINEERS • SURVEYORS

 
 
 
 
6/8/2017 
 
Brunk Industries, Inc. 
Lake Geneva, WI 
 
 
PIP Amendment Narrative 
 
An Amendment to the Precise Implementation Plan to the already approved Planned 
Development is proposed to obtain approval for a culvert and sidewalk modification east of the 
existing Brunk Industries facility along E Sheridan Springs Road to connect the existing and new 
facilities.  The culvert will be removed and relocated and the sidewalk will be expanded from 5’ 
to 10’.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



100 CAMELOT DRIVE
FOND DU LAC, WI 54935
PHONE: (920) 926-9800
WWW.EXCELENGINEER.COM

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2017 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET INFORMATION

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROJECT NUMBER

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

1650900

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
BU

IL
DI

N
G 

FO
R:

 

BR
U

N
K 

IN
DU

ST
RI

ES
, I

N
C.

12
25

 S
AG

E 
ST

. ●
 L

AK
E 

GE
N

EV
A,

 W
I 5

31
47

100 CAMELOT DRIVE
FOND DU LAC, WI 54935
PHONE: (920) 926-9800
WWW.EXCELENGINEER.COM

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2017 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET INFORMATION

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROJECT NUMBER

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

1650900

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
BU

IL
DI

N
G 

FO
R:

 

BR
U

N
K 

IN
DU

ST
RI

ES
, I

N
C.

12
25

 S
AG

E 
ST

. ●
 L

AK
E 

GE
N

EV
A,

 W
I 5

31
47

FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
STAKEOUT INFORMATION:

STAKEOUT INFORMATION:
VERIFY STATION FOR INLET
LOCATION. REFER TO STAKEOUT POLICY
FOR STAKEOUT LOCATION AND OFFSETS.

SHEET DATES

ISSUE DATE

REVISIONS

C1.0
CIVIL COVER AND
SPECIFICATION SHEET

APR. 12, 2017

CB1 MAY 12, 2017
CB3 JUN 21, 2017

DIVISION 31  EARTH WORK

31 10 00  SITE CLEARING (DEMOLITION)

A. CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL DIGGER'S HOT LINE  AND CONDUCT A PRIVATE UTILITY LOCATE AS
REQUIRED TO ENSURE THAT ALL UTILITIES HAVE BEEN LOCATED BEFORE STARTING SITE
DEMOLITION.  DESIGN ENGINEER SHALL BE NOTIFIED OF ANY DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN PLAN AND
FIELD CONDITIONS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

B. DEMOLITION PLAN IS AN OVERVIEW OF DEMOLITION TO TAKE PLACE ON SITE.  CONTRACTOR TO
FIELD VERIFY EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS PRIOR TO BIDDING.  CONTRACTOR SHALL REMOVE,
REPLACE, OR DEMOLISH ALL ITEMS AS NEEDED DURING CONSTRUCTION.

C. CONTRACTOR TO PROTECT EXISTING IMPROVEMENTS THAT ARE SCHEDULED TO REMAIN.  ANY
DAMAGE TO EXISTING FACILITIES SHALL BE REPLACED AT CONTRACTORS EXPENSE.

D. ALL CONCRETE NOTED TO BE REMOVED SHALL BE REMOVED TO THE NEAREST CONTROL JOINT.

31 20 00  EARTH MOVING

A. CONTRACTOR SHALL CALL DIGGER'S HOT LINE  AND CONDUCT A PRIVATE UTILITY LOCATE AS
REQUIRED TO ENSURE THAT ALL UTILITIES HAVE BEEN LOCATED BEFORE STARTING EXCAVATION.
DESIGN ENGINEER SHALL BE NOTIFIED OF ANY DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN PLAN AND FIELD
CONDITIONS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.

B. PROVIDE ALL LABOR, MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT FOR ALL EXCAVATION, GRADING, FILL AND
BACKFILL WORK AS REQUIRED TO COMPLETE THE GENERAL CONSTRUCTION WORK.  ALL
EXCAVATION AND BACKFILL FOR ELECTRICALS AND MECHANICALS ARE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE
RESPECTIVE CONTRACTOR.

C. ALL ORGANIC TOPSOIL INSIDE THE BUILDING AREA, UNDER PAVED AREAS, AND AT SITE FILL AREAS
SHALL BE REMOVED.  PROOF ROLL SUBGRADES BEFORE PLACING FILL WITH HEAVY
PNEUMATIC-TIRED EQUIPMENT, SUCH AS A FULLY-LOADED TANDEM AXLE DUMP TRUCK, TO IDENTIFY
SOFT POCKETS AND AREAS OF EXCESS YIELDING.  CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY TOPSOIL DEPTHS
PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REVIEW AND FOLLOW THE
RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE GEOTECHNICAL REPORT AND ACCOUNT FOR EXISTING CONDITIONS
PRIOR TO SUBMITTING BID FOR THE PROJECT.  EXCESS MATERIALS SHALL BE REMOVED FROM THE
SITE UNLESS OTHERWISE DIRECTED IN THE PLANS OR BY LOCAL ZONING REQUIREMENTS.

D. PLACE AND COMPACT FILL MATERIAL IN LAYERS TO REQUIRED ELEVATIONS. UNIFORMLY MOISTEN
OR AERATE SUBGRADE AND EACH SUBSEQUENT FILL OR BACKFILL LAYER BEFORE COMPACTION AS
RECOMMENDED TO ACHIEVE SPECIFIED DRY DENSITY.  REMOVE AND REPLACE, OR SCARIFY AND AIR
DRY, OTHERWISE SATISFACTORY SOIL MATERIAL THAT IS TOO WET TO COMPACT TO SPECIFIED DRY
DENSITY.

E. PLACE BACKFILL AND FILL MATERIALS IN LAYERS NOT MORE THAN 8" IN LOOSE DEPTH FOR MATERIAL
COMPACTED BY HEAVY COMPACTION EQUIPMENT, AND NOT MORE THAN 4"  IN LOOSE DEPTH FOR
MATERIAL COMPACTED BY HAND-OPERATED TAMPERS.

F. COMPACT THE SOIL TO NOT LESS THAN THE FOLLOWING PERCENTAGES OF MAXIMUM DRY DENSITY
ACCORDING TO ASTM D 698, STANDARD PROCTOR TEST. FILL MAY NOT BE PLACED ON FROZEN
GROUND AND NO FROZEN MATERIALS MAY BE USED FOR BACK FILL.  APPLY THE MORE STRINGENT
REQUIREMENTS WHEN COMPARING BETWEEN THE FOLLOWING AND THE GEOTECHNICAL REPORT.

1. UNDER FOUNDATIONS - SUBGRADE, AND EACH LAYER OF BACKFILL OR FILL MATERIAL, TO NOT
LESS THAN 98 PERCENT.

2. UNDER INTERIOR SLAB-ON-GRADE WHERE GROUNDWATER IS MORE THAN 3 FEET BELOW THE
SLAB - PLACE A DRAINAGE COURSE LAYER OF 3/4" CRUSHED STONE, WITH 5% TO 12% FINES,
PER THICKNESS INDICATED ON FOUNDATION PLANS ON PREPARED SUBGRADE. COMPACT THE
SUBGRADE AND DRAINAGE COURSE TO NOT LESS THAN 95 PERCENT.

3. UNDER INTERIOR SLAB-ON-GRADE WHERE GROUNDWATER IS WITHIN 3 FEET OF THE SLAB
SURFACE- PLACE A DRAINAGE COURSE LAYER OF CLEAN 3/4" CRUSHED STONE, WITH NO MORE
THAN 5% FINES, PER THICKNESS INDICATED ON FOUNDATION PLANS ON PREPARED SUBGRADE.
COMPACT THE SUBGRADE AND DRAINAGE COURSE TO NOT LESS THAN 95 PERCENT.

4. UNDER EXTERIOR CONCRETE AND ASPHALT PAVEMENTS - COMPACT THE SUBGRADE AND EACH
LAYER OF BACKFILL OR FILL MATERIAL TO NOT LESS THAN 95 PERCENT.

5. UNDER WALKWAYS - COMPACT SUBGRADE AND EACH LAYER OF BACKFILL OR FILL MATERIAL TO
NOT LESS THAN 95 PERCENT.

6. UNDER LAWN OR UNPAVED AREAS - COMPACT SUBGRADE AND EACH LAYER OF BACKFILL OR
FILL MATERIAL, TO NOT LESS THAN 85 PERCENT.

G. CONTRACTOR SHALL ENGAGE A QUALIFIED INDEPENDENT TESTING AND INSPECTING AGENCY TO
PERFORM FIELD TESTS AND INSPECTIONS. IT IS SUGGESTED THAT THE GEOTECHNICAL FIRM USED
TO PERFORM THE SUBSURFACE SOIL INVESTIGATION BE ENGAGED FOR THE FIELD QUALITY
CONTROL TESTS. THE GEOTECHNICAL REPORT WAS PERFORMED BY PROFESSIONAL SERVICE
INDUSTRIES (PSI)  ON MARCH 7, 2017.

H. ALLOW THE TESTING AGENCY TO TEST AND INSPECT SUBGRADES AND EACH FILL OR BACKFILL
LAYER.  PROCEED WITH SUBSEQUENT EARTHWORK ONLY AFTER TEST RESULTS FOR PREVIOUSLY
COMPLETED WORK COMPLY WITH REQUIREMENTS. PROVIDE ONE TEST FOR EVERY 2000 SQUARE
FEET OF PAVED AREA OR BUILDING SLAB, ONE TEST FOR EACH SPREAD FOOTING, AND ONE TEST
FOR EVERY 50 LINEAR FEET OF WALL STRIP FOOTING.

I. WHEN THE TESTING AGENCY REPORTS THAT SUBGRADES, FILLS, OR BACKFILLS HAVE NOT
ACHIEVED DEGREE OF COMPACTION  SPECIFIED, SCARIFY AND MOISTEN OR AERATE, OR REMOVE
AND REPLACE SOIL TO DEPTH REQUIRED; RECOMPACT AND  RETEST UNTIL SPECIFIED COMPACTION
IS OBTAINED.

J. THE BUILDING SITE SHALL BE GRADED TO PROVIDE DRAINAGE AWAY FROM THE BUILDING AS
INDICATED ON THE PLANS. SITE EARTHWORK SHALL BE GRADED TO WITHIN 0.10' OF REQUIRED
EARTHWORK ELEVATIONS ASSUMING POSITIVE DRAINAGE IS MAINTAINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
GRADING PLAN.

31 30 00  EROSION CONTROL/STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

A. THE DESIGN ENGINEER SHALL PREPARE A SITE SPECIFIC EROSION CONTROL AND A STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT PLAN PURSUANT TO NR 216.46 AND NR 216.47.  THE DESIGN ENGINEER SHALL ALSO
FILE A CONSTRUCTION NOTICE OF INTENT WITH THE WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL
RESOURCES PURSUANT TO NR 216.43 OR TO AN AUTHORIZED LOCAL PROGRAM PURSUANT TO NR
216.415 TO OBTAIN COVERAGE UNDER THE GENERAL WPDES STORM WATER PERMIT.

B. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL KEEP THE NOTICE OF INTENT PERMIT, APPROVED EROSION CONTROL AND
STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PLANS, AND PLAN AMENDMENTS ON THE CONSTRUCTION SITE AT ALL
TIMES UNTIL PERMIT COVERAGE IS TERMINATED.

C. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR OBTAINING ALL LOCAL EROSION CONTROL PERMITS.
D. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR MEETING THE MONITORING, MAINTENANCE, AND

REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF NR 216.48.  INSPECTIONS OF IMPLEMENTED EROSION AND SEDIMENT
CONTROL BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES MUST AT A MINIMUM BE INSPECTED EVERY 7 DAYS AND
WITHIN 24 HOURS AFTER A PRECIPITATION EVENT OF 0.5" OR MORE.  A PRECIPITATION EVENT MAY
BE CONSIDERED TO BE THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF PRECIPITATION RECORDED IN ANY CONTINUOUS
24-HOUR PERIOD.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REPAIR OR REPLACE EROSION AND SEDIMENT
CONTROL AS NECESSARY WITHIN 24 HOURS OF AN INSPECTION OR AFTER A DEPARTMENT
NOTIFICATION WHERE REPAIR OR REPLACEMENT IS REQUESTED.

E. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN, AT THE CONSTRUCTION SITE, WEEKLY WRITTEN REPORTS OF
ALL INSPECTIONS CONDUCTED.  WISCONSIN DNR CONSTRUCTION SITE INSPECTION REPORT FORM
3400-187 SHALL BE USED.  WEEKLY INSPECTION REPORTS SHALL INCLUDE ALL OF THE FOLLOWING:

1. THE DATE, TIME, AND EXACT LOCATION OF THE CONSTRUCTION SITE INSPECTION.
2. THE NAME OF THE INDIVIDUAL WHO PERFORMED THE INSPECTION.
3. AN ASSESSMENT OF THE CONDITION OF THE EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROLS.
4. A DESCRIPTION OF ANY EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL IMPLEMENTATION AND

MAINTENANCE PERFORMED.
5. A DESCRIPTION OF THE PRESENT PHASE OF LAND DISTURBING CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY AT

THE CONSTRUCTION SITE.
F. EROSION AND SEDIMENT CONTROL IMPLEMENTED DURING CONSTRUCTION SHALL STRICTLY

COMPLY WITH THE GUIDELINES AND REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN WISCONSIN ADMINISTRATIVE
CODE (W.A.C.) NR 151, THE STATE OF WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES RUNOFF
MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  TECHNICAL STANDARDS PUBLISHED BY THE WISCONSIN
DNR SHALL ALSO BE UTILIZED TO IMPLEMENT THE REQUIRED PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  THE
METHODS AND TYPES OF EROSION CONTROL WILL BE DEPENDENT ON THE LOCATION AND TYPE OF
WORK INVOLVED.  ALL SEDIMENT CONTROL MEASURES SHALL BE ADJUSTED TO MEET FIELD
CONDITIONS AT THE TIME OF CONSTRUCTION, AND INSTALLED PRIOR TO ANY GRADING OR
DISTURBANCE OF EXISTING SURFACE MATERIAL.  BELOW IS A LIST OF EROSION AND SEDIMENT
CONTROL BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES TO ACHIEVE THE PERFORMANCE STANDARDS REQUIRED.

1. SILT FENCE SHALL BE PLACED ON SITE AT LOCATIONS SHOWN ON THE EROSION CONTROL
PLAN.  SILT FENCE SHALL ALSO BE PROVIDED AROUND THE PERIMETER OF ALL SOIL
STOCKPILES.  FOLLOW PROCEDURES FOUND IN WISCONSIN DNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1056.

2. DITCH CHECKS SHALL BE PROVIDED TO REDUCE THE VELOCITY OF WATER FLOWING IN DITCH
BOTTOMS.  PLACE AT LOCATIONS SHOWN ON THE EROSION CONTROL PLAN.  FOLLOW
PROCEDURES FOUND IN WISCONSIN DNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1062

3. STONE TRACKING PADS SHALL BE PLACED AT ALL CONSTRUCTION SITE ENTRANCES AND SHALL
BE INSTALLED PRIOR TO ANY TRAFFIC LEAVING THE CONSTRUCTION SITE.  SEE THE EROSION
CONTROL PLAN FOR LOCATIONS.  THE AGGREGATE USED SHALL BE 3 TO 6 INCH CLEAR OR
WASHED STONE, AND SHALL BE PLACED IN A LAYER AT LEAST 12 INCHES THICK.  THE STONE
SHALL BE UNDERLAIN WITH A WISDOT TYPE R GEOTEXTILE FABRIC.  THE TRACKING PAD SHALL
BE THE FULL WIDTH OF THE EGRESS POINT, AND SHALL BE A MINIMUM OF 50 FEET LONG.
SURFACE WATER MUST BE PREVENTED FROM PASSING THROUGH THE TRACKING PAD.  FOLLOW
PROCEDURES FOUND IN WISCONSIN DNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1057.

4. STORM DRAIN INLET PROTECTION SHALL BE PROVIDED FOR ALL NEW AND DOWNSTREAM
STORM CATCH BASINS AND CURB INLETS.  TYPE B OR C PROTECTION SHOULD BE PROVIDED
AND SHALL BE IN CONFORMANCE WITH WISCONSIN DNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1060.

5. DUST CONTROL MEASURES SHALL BE PROVIDED TO REDUCE OR PREVENT THE SURFACE AND
AIR TRANSPORT OF DUST DURING CONSTRUCTION.  CONTROL MEASURES INCLUDE APPLYING
MULCH AND ESTABLISHING VEGETATION, WATER SPRAYING, SURFACE ROUGHENING, APPLYING
POLYMERS, SPRAY-ON TACKIFIERS, CHLORIDES, AND BARRIERS.  SOME SITES MAY REQUIRE AN
APPROACH THAT UTILIZES A COMBINATION OF MEASURES FOR DUST CONTROL. FOLLOW
PROCEDURES FOUND IN WISCONSIN DNR TECHNICAL STANDARD 1068.

6. THE USE, STORAGE, AND DISPOSAL OF CHEMICALS, CEMENT, AND OTHER COMPOUNDS AND
MATERIALS USED ON SITE SHALL BE MANAGED DURING THE CONSTRUCTION PERIOD TO
PREVENT THEIR TRANSPORT BY RUNOFF INTO WATERS OF THE STATE.

7. CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE AN OPEN AGGREGATE CONCRETE TRUCK WASHOUT AREA ON
SITE.  CONTRACTOR TO ENSURE THAT CONCRETE WASHOUT SHALL BE CONTAINED TO THIS
DESIGNATED AREA AND NOT BE ALLOWED TO RUN INTO STORM INLETS OR INTO THE OVERLAND
STORMWATER DRAINAGE SYSTEM.  WASHOUT AREA SHALL BE REMOVED UPON COMPLETION OF
CONSTRUCTION.

8. TEMPORARY SITE RESTORATION SHALL TAKE PLACE IN DISTURBED AREAS THAT WILL NOT BE
BROUGHT TO FINAL GRADE OR ON WHICH LAND DISTURBING ACTIVITIES WILL NOT BE
PERFORMED FOR A PERIOD GREATER THAN 14 DAYS AND REQUIRES VEGETATIVE COVER FOR
LESS THAN ONE YEAR.  THIS TEMPORARY SITE RESTORATION REQUIREMENT ALSO APPLIES TO
SOIL STOCKPILES.  PERMANENT RESTORATION APPLIES TO AREAS WHERE PERENNIAL
VEGETATIVE COVER IS NEEDED TO PERMANENTLY STABILIZE AREAS OF EXPOSED SOIL.
PERMANENT STABILIZATION SHALL OCCUR WITHIN 3 WORKING DAYS OF FINAL GRADING.
TOPSOIL, SEED, AND MULCH SHALL BE IN GENERAL CONFORMANCE WITH TECHNICAL
STANDARDS 1058 AND 1059 AND SHALL MEET THE SPECIFICATIONS FOUND IN THE LANDSCAPING
AND SITE STABILIZATION SECTION OF THIS CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENT. ANY SOIL EROSION
THAT OCCURS AFTER FINAL GRADING AND/OR FINAL STABILIZATION MUST BE REPAIRED AND
THE STABILIZATION WORK REDONE.

9. IF SITE DEWATERING IS REQUIRED TO REMOVE SEDIMENT FROM CONSTRUCTION SITE
STORMWATER PRIOR TO DISCHARGING OFF-SITE OR TO WATERS OF THE STATE, FOLLOW
PROCEDURES FOUND IN TECHNICAL STANDARD 1061.

10. ALL OFF-SITE SEDIMENT DEPOSITS OCCURRING AS A RESULT OF CONSTRUCTION WORK OR A
STORM EVENT SHALL BE CLEANED UP BY THE END OF EACH WORKING DAY.  FLUSHING SHALL
NOT BE ALLOWED.

G. EROSION CONTROL MEASURES SHALL NOT BE REMOVED UNTIL THE AREA(S) SERVED HAVE
ESTABLISHED VEGETATIVE COVER.

H. ONCE THE CONSTRUCTION SITE HAS BEEN FULLY STABILIZED AND TEMPORARY EROSION CONTROL
BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES HAVE BEEN REMOVED, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FILE A
CONSTRUCTION NOTICE OF TERMINATION WITH THE WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL
RESOURCES.

I. AT THE COMPLETION OF THE PROJECT, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL GIVE THE OWNER COPIES OF THE
EROSION CONTROL AND STORM WATER MANAGEMENT PLANS, AMENDMENTS TO PLANS,
SUPPORTING PLAN DATA, AND CONSTRUCTION SITE EROSION CONTROL INSPECTION REPORTS. THE
OWNER SHALL RETAIN THESE FOR A PERIOD OF 3 YEARS FROM THE DATE OF TERMINATING
COVERAGE UNDER WPDES GENERAL PERMIT.

J. ALL POST CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER MANAGEMENT BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES SHALL BE
CONSTRUCTED BEFORE THE SITE HAS UNDERGONE FINAL STABILIZATION.

32 10 00  AGGREGATE BASE & ASPHALT PAVEMENT

A. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE COMPACTED AGGREGATE BASE AND HOT MIX ASPHALT PAVEMENT
WHERE INDICATED ON THE PLANS.  ALL AGGREGATE PROVIDED MUST COMPLY WITH SECTION 305 OF
THE WISCONSIN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION.
PROVIDE HOT MIX ASPHALT MIXTURE TYPES PER SECTION 460 OF THE WISCONSIN STANDARD
SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE
AGGREGATE BASE AND HOT MIX ASPHALT PAVEMENT TYPES AND DEPTHS AS INDICATED BELOW:

STANDARD ASPHALT PAVING HEAVY ASPHALT PAVING
1-1/2” SURFACE COURSE (5 LT 58-28 S) 1-1/2” SURFACE COURSE (5 LT 58-28 S)
2” BINDER COURSE (3 LT 58-28 S) 3-0” BINDER COURSE (3 LT 58-28 S)
8” OF 1-1/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE 11” OF 1-1/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE

B. CONTRACTOR TO COMPACT THE AGGREGATE BASE, ASPHALT BINDER COURSE, AND ASPHALT
SURFACE COURSE TO AN AVERAGE DENSITY PER WISCONSIN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR
HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION.  ALL ASPHALT PAVEMENT AREAS SHALL BE PAVED TO
WITHIN 0.10' OF DESIGN SURFACE GRADES WITH POSITIVE DRAINAGE BEING MAINTAINED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH DESIGN PLANS.  A MINIMUM OF 1% SLOPE SHALL BE MAINTAINED IN ALL ASPHALT
PAVEMENT AREA.

C. HOT MIX ASPHALT CONSTRUCTION TO BE PROVIDED PER MORE STRINGENT REQUIREMENTS OF
GEOTECHNICAL REPORT OR CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS.

D. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE 4” WIDE WHITE/YELLOW (VERIFY W/ OWNER) PAINTED STRIPING FOR
PARKING STALLS, TRAFFIC LANES, AND NO PARKING AREAS.  WHITE/YELLOW (VERIFY W/ OWNER)
PAINT MARKINGS SHALL ALSO BE PROVIDED FOR H.C. ACCESSIBLE SYMBOLS, TRAFFIC ARROWS, AND
TRAFFIC MESSAGES.

32 20 00  CONCRETE AND AGGREGATE BASE

A.     CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE CRUSHED AGGREGATE BASE AND CONCRETE WHERE INDICATED ON
THE PLANS.

B.     ALL AGGREGATE PROVIDED MUST COMPLY WITH SECTION 305 OF THE WISCONSIN STANDARD
SPECIFICATIONS FOR HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION. ALL AGGREGATE PLACED MUST
BE COMPACTED TO AN AVERAGE DENSITY PER WISCONSIN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR
HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION.

C.     DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF ALL CAST-IN-PLACE EXTERIOR CONCRETE FLAT WORK SHALL
CONFORM TO ACI 330R-08.

D.     EXTERIOR CONCRETE FLAT WORK CONSTRUCTION TO BE PROVIDED PER MORE STRINGENT
REQUIREMENTS OF THE GEOTECHNICAL REPORT OR THIS SPECIFICATION.  CONCRETE FLAT WORK
CONSTRUCTION IS AS FOLLOWS:

1. SIDEWALK CONCRETE - 4” OF CONCRETE OVER 4” OF 3/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE
BASE.  CONTRACTION JOINTS SHALL CONSIST OF 1/8” WIDE BY 1” DEEP TOOLED JOINT WHERE
INDICATED ON THE PLANS.

2. LOADING DOCK CONCRETE - 8” OF CONCRETE OVER 6” OF 3/4” CRUSHED AGGREGATE BASE.
a. CONCRETE SHALL BE REINFORCED WITH ONE OF THE FOLLOWING:
1) 4”X4” W5.5XW5.5 W.W.F
2) TWO LAYERS OF 4”X4” W 2.9XW2.9 W.W.F.
3) #3 REBARS AT 7-1/2” O.C.
4) #4 REBARS AT 13” O.C.

b. LOADING DOCK CONCRETE JOINTING SHALL BE AS FOLLOWS:
1) CONTRACTION SAWCUT JOINT -CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE A SAWCUT JOINT AT
MAXIMUM SPACING OF 15' ON CENTER.  SAWCUT JOINT SHALL BE 2” IN DEPTH.

c. TYPICAL POUR CONTROL JOINT - POUR CONTROL JOINT SHALL BE PROVIDED
WITH 1-1/4” DIAMETER BY 20” LONG SMOOTH DOWEL PLACED AT 12” ON CENTER.  ONE HALF
OF THE DOWEL SHALL BE GREASED.  GREENSTREAK 9” SPEED DOWEL TUBES SHALL BE
USED.

3. HEAVY DUTY CONCRETE (TRUCK TRAFFIC) - 6” OF CONCRETE OVER 6” OF 3/4” CRUSHED
AGGREGATE.  CONCRETE SHALL BE REINFORCED WITH 6”X6” W2.9XW2.9 W.W.F.  CONTRACTION
JOINTS SHALL BE SAWCUT 1.5” IN DEPTH AND BE SPACED A MAXIMUM OF 15' ON CENTER.

E. DESIGN MIXES SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM C94
1. STRENGTH TO BE MINIMUM OF 4,000 PSI AT 28 DAYS FOR EXTERIOR CONCRETE.
2. SLUMP SHALL NOT EXCEED 4” FOR EXTERIOR CONCRETE FLAT WORK
3. SLUMP SHALL BE 2.5” OR LESS FOR SLIP-FORMED CURB AND GUTTER
4. SLUMP SHALL BE BETWEEN 1.5” TO 3” FOR NON SLIP-FORMED CURB AND GUTTER.
5. ALL EXTERIOR CONCRETE SHALL BE AIR ENTRAINED WITH 5% TO 7% AIR CONTENT.  NO OTHER

ADMIXTURES SHALL BE USED WITHOUT APPROVAL OF EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.  CALCIUM
CHLORIDE SHALL NOT BE USED.

6. MAXIMUM AGGREGATE SIZE FOR ALL EXTERIOR CONCRETE SHALL BE 0.75 INCHES.
F. ALL EXTERIOR MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT CONCRETE PADS SHALL BE SIZED AND DESIGNED BY THE

EQUIPMENT SUPPLIER.
G. ALL CONCRETE FLAT WORK SURFACES AND CONCRETE CURB FLOWLINES SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED

TO WITHIN 0.05' OF DESIGN SURFACE AND FLOWLINE GRADES ASSUMING POSITIVE DRAINAGE IS
MAINTAINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE DESIGN PLANS.

H. CONCRETE FLAT WORK SHALL HAVE CONSTRUCTION JOINTS OR SAW CUT JOINTS PLACED AS
INDICATED ON THE PLANS OR PER THIS SPECIFICATION.  SAWCUTS SHALL BE DONE AS SOON AS
POSSIBLE, BUT NO LATER THAN 24 HOURS AFTER CONCRETE IS PLACED.  CONCRETE CURB AND
GUTTER JOINTING SHALL BE PLACED EVERY 10' OR CLOSER (6' MIN.).  ALL EXTERIOR CONCRETE
SHALL HAVE A LIGHT BROOM FINISH UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.  A UNIFORM COAT OF A HIGH
SOLIDS CURING COMPOUND MEETING ASTM C309 SHOULD BE APPLIED TO ALL EXPOSED CONCRETE
SURFACES.  ALL CONCRETE IS TO BE CURED FOR 7 DAYS.  EXTERIOR CONCRETE SHALL BE
SEPARATED FROM BUILDINGS WITH CONTINUOUS 0.5 INCH FIBER EXPANSION JOINT AND/OR 0.25
INCH FIBER EXPANSION JOINT AT DECORATIVE MASONRY UNITS.

I. ALL REINFORCING BARS SHALL BE ASTM A615 GRADE 60.  THICKNESS OF CONCRETE COVER OVER
REINFORCEMENT SHALL BE NOT LESS THAN 3” WHERE CONCRETE IS DEPOSITED AGAINST THE
GROUND WITHOUT THE USE OF FORMS AND NOT LESS THAN 1.5” IN ALL OTHER LOCATIONS.  ALL
REINFORCING SHALL BE LAPPED 36 DIAMETERS FOR UP TO #6 BARS, 60 DIAMETERS FOR #7 TO #10
BARS OR AS NOTED ON THE DRAWINGS AND EXTENDED AROUND CORNERS WITH CORNER BARS.
PLACING AND DETAILING OF STEEL REINFORCING AND REINFORCING SUPPORTS SHALL BE IN
ACCORDANCE WITH CRSI AND ACI MANUAL AND STANDARD PRACTICES.  THE REINFORCEMENT
SHALL NOT BE PAINTED AND MUST BE FREE OF GREASE/OIL, DIRT OR DEEP RUST WHEN PLACED IN
THE WORK.  ALL WELDED WIRE FABRIC SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF ASTM A 185.  WELDED
WIRE FABRIC SHALL BE PLACED 2” FROM TOP OF SLAB, UNLESS INDICATED OTHERWISE.

J. CONTRACTOR SHALL ENGAGE A QUALIFIED INDEPENDENT TESTING AND INSPECTING AGENCY TO
SAMPLE MATERIALS, PERFORM TESTS, AND SUBMIT TEST REPORTS DURING CONCRETE PLACEMENT.
TESTS WILL BE PERFORMED ACCORDING TO ACI 301.  CAST AND LABORATORY CURE ONE SET OF
FOUR STANDARD CYLINDERS FOR EACH COMPOSITE SAMPLE FOR EACH DAY'S POUR OF EACH
CONCRETE MIX EXCEEDING 5 CU. YD., BUT LESS THAN 25 CU. YD., PLUS ONE SET FOR EACH
ADDITIONAL 50 CU. YD. OR FRACTION THEREOF. PERFORM COMPRESSIVE-STRENGTH TESTS
ACCORDING TO ASTM C 39. TEST TWO SPECIMENS AT 7 DAYS AND TWO SPECIMENS AT 28 DAYS.
PERFORM SLUMP TESTING ACCORDING TO ASTM C 143. PROVIDE ONE TEST AT POINT OF PLACEMENT
FOR EACH COMPOSITE SAMPLE, BUT NOT LESS THAN ONE TEST FOR EACH DAY'S POUR OF EACH
CONCRETE MIX. PERFORM ADDITIONAL TESTS WHEN CONCRETE CONSISTENCY APPEARS TO
CHANGE.

K. PROTECT FRESHLY PLACED CONCRETE FROM PREMATURE DRYING AND EXCESSIVE COLD OR HOT
TEMPERATURES.  IN HOT, DRY, AND WINDY WEATHER, APPLY AN EVAPORATION-CONTROL
COMPOUND ACCORDING TO MANUFACTURER'S INSTRUCTIONS AFTER SCREEDING AND BULL
FLOATING, BUT BEFORE POWER FLOATING AND TROWELLING.

L.  LIMIT MAXIMUM WATER-CEMENTIOUS RATIO OF CONCRETE EXPOSED TO FREEZING, THAWING AND
DEICING SALTS TO 0.45.

M. TEST RESULTS WILL BE REPORTED IN WRITING TO THE DESIGN ENGINEER, READY-MIX PRODUCER,
AND CONTRACTOR WITHIN 24 HOURS AFTER TESTS.  REPORTS OF COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH TESTS
SHALL CONTAIN THE PROJECT IDENTIFICATION NAME AND NUMBER, DATE OF CONCRETE
PLACEMENT, NAME OF CONCRETE TESTING SERVICE, CONCRETE TYPE AND CLASS, LOCATION OF
CONCRETE BATCH IN STRUCTURE, DESIGN COMPRESSIVE STRENGTH AT 28 DAYS, CONCRETE MIX
PROPORTIONS AND MATERIALS, COMPRESSIVE BREAKING STRENGTH, AND TYPE OF BREAK FOR
BOTH 7-DAY TESTS AND 28-DAY TESTS.

32 30 00  LANDSCAPING AND SITE STABILIZATION

A. TOPSOIL:  CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE A MINIMUM OF 6” OF TOPSOIL FOR ALL DISTURBED OPEN
AREAS.  REUSE SURFACE SOIL STOCKPILED ON SITE AND SUPPLEMENT WITH IMPORTED OR
MANUFACTURED TOPSOIL FROM OFF SITE SOURCES WHEN QUANTITIES ARE INSUFFICIENT.  PROVIDE
SOIL ANALYSIS BY A QUALIFIED SOIL TESTING LABORATORY AS REQUIRED TO VERIFY THE
SUITABILITY OF SOIL TO BE USED AS TOPSOIL AND TO DETERMINE THE NECESSARY SOIL
AMENDMENTS.  TEST SOIL FOR PRESENCE OF ATRAZINE AND INFORM EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC. IF
PRESENT PRIOR TO BIDDING PROJECT.  TOPSOIL SHALL HAVE A PH RANGE OF 5.5 TO 8, CONTAIN A
MINIMUM OF 5 PERCENT ORGANIC MATERIAL CONTENT, AND SHALL BE FREE OF STONES 1 INCH OR
LARGER IN DIAMETER.  ALL MATERIALS HARMFUL TO PLANT GROWTH SHALL ALSO BE REMOVED.

TOPSOIL INSTALLATION:  LOOSEN SUBGRADE TO A MINIMUM DEPTH OF 6 INCHES AND REMOVE
STONES LARGER THAN 1” IN DIAMETER.  ALSO REMOVE ANY STICKS, ROOTS, RUBBISH, AND OTHER
EXTRANEOUS MATTER AND DISPOSE OF THEM OFF THE PROPERTY.  SPREAD TOPSOIL TO A DEPTH
OF 6” BUT NOT LESS THAN WHAT IS REQUIRED TO MEET FINISHED GRADES AFTER LIGHT ROLLING
AND NATURAL SETTLEMENT.  DO NOT SPREAD TOPSOIL IF SUBGRADE IS FROZEN, MUDDY, OR
EXCESSIVELY WET.  GRADE PLANTING AREAS TO A SMOOTH, UNIFORM SURFACE PLANE WITH
LOOSE, UNIFORMLY FINE TEXTURE.  GRADE TO WITHIN 0.05 FEET OF FINISHED GRADE ELEVATION.

B. SEEDED LAWNS:
1. PERMANENT LAWN AREAS SHALL BE SEEDED WITH THE FOLLOWING MIXTURE:  65% KENTUCKY

BLUEGRASS BLEND (2.0-2.6 LBS./1,000 S.F.), 20% PERENNIAL RYEGRASS (0.6-0.8 LBS./1,000 S.F.),
15% FINE FESCUE (0.4-0.6 LBS/1,000 S.F.).  STRAW AND MULCH SHALL BE LAID AT 100LBS/1,000
S.F.  FERTILIZE AS PER SOIL TEST OR APPLY 5-10-10 OR EQUIVALENT AT 5-6 LBS/1,000 S.F.  SEE
EROSION MATTING SPECIFICATIONS AS REQUIRED. ALL SITE DISTURBED AREAS NOT
DESIGNATED FOR OTHER LANDSCAPING AND SITE STABILIZATION METHODS SHALL BE SEEDED
AS PERMANENT LAWN.  NO BARE TOPSOIL SHALL BE LEFT ONSITE.

2. ALL PERMANENT AND TEMPORARY STORM WATER CONVEYANCE SWALE BOTTOMS AND SIDE
SLOPES AS WELL AS STORMWATER MANAGEMENT BASIN BOTTOMS AND SIDE SLOPES SHALL BE
SEEDED WITH THE FOLLOWING MIXTURE:  45% KENTUCKY BLUEGRASS (0.60 LBS./1000 S.F.), 40%
CREEPING RED FESCUE (0.50 LBS./1,000 S.F.), AND 15% PERENNIAL RYEGRASS (0.20 LBS./1,000
S.F.).  FERTILIZE AS PER SOIL TEST OR APPLY 5-10-10 OR EQUIVALENT AT 5-6 LBS./1,000 S.F.  SEE
EROSION MATTING SPECIFICATIONS AS REQUIRED.

3. ALL TEMPORARY SEEDING SHALL CONSIST OF THE FOLLOWING MIXTURE:  100% RYEGRASS AT
1.9 LBS./1,000 S.F.  STRAW AND MULCH SHALL BE LAID AT 100 LBS./1,000 S.F.  FERTILIZE AS PER
SOIL TEST OR APPLY 5-10-10 OR EQUIVALENT AT 5-6 LBS./1,000 S.F.  SEE EROSION MATTING
SPECIFICATIONS AS REQUIRED.

C. SEEDED LAWN MAINTENANCE:  CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE MAINTENANCE OF ALL LANDSCAPING FOR
A PERIOD OF 90 DAYS FROM THE DATE OF INSTALLATION.  AT THE END OF THE MAINTENANCE
PERIOD, A HEALTHY, UNIFORM, CLOSE STAND OF GRASS SHOULD BE ESTABLISHED FREE OF WEEDS
AND SURFACE IRREGULARITIES.  LAWN COVERAGE SHOULD EXCEED 90% AND BARE SPOTS SHOULD
NOT EXCEED 5”X5”.  CONTRACTOR SHOULD REESTABLISH LAWNS THAT DO NOT COMPLY WITH THESE
REQUIREMENTS AND CONTINUE MAINTENANCE UNTIL LAWNS ARE SATISFACTORY.

D. EROSION MATTING:
1. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE EROSION CONTROL MATTING (NORTH AMERICAN GREEN S150) OR

EQUIVALENT ON ALL SLOPES THAT ARE 4:1 AND GREATER OUTSIDE OF STORMWATER
CONVEYANCE SWALES AND STORMWATER MANAGEMENT BASINS.

2. CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE EROSION MATTING (NORTH AMERICAN GREEN C125) OR EQUIVALENT
IN ALL SWALE BOTTOMS AND SIDE SLOPES AS WELL AS STORMWATER MANAGEMENT BASIN
BOTTOMS AND SIDE SLOPES AS REQUIRED. ON SLOPES >3:1, CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE
HYDRA-GT MODERATE SLOPE MULCH WITH TACK OR EQ.

E. STORMWATER MANAGEMENT POND SAFETY SHELF SEEDING:  SAFETY SHELF SHALL BE SEEDED
WITH A WET PRAIRIE EMERGENT PLANT TYPE MIX.

F. RIP RAP:  ALL RIP RAP ASSOCIATED WITH STORMWATER MANAGEMENT AND STORMWATER
CONVEYANCE, AS DELINEATED ON THE PLANS, SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED WITH THE TOP OF RIP RAP
MATCHING THE PROPOSED ADJACENT GRADE ELEVATIONS.  PLACEMENT OF RIP RAP ABOVE THE
PROPOSED ADJACENT GRADE ELEVATIONS IS NOT ACCEPTABLE.  ALL RIP RAP SHALL BE PLACED ON
TYPE HR FILTER FABRIC PER SECTION 645 OF THE WISCONSIN STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR
HIGHWAY AND STRUCTURAL CONSTRUCTION.

G. TREES AND SHRUBS:  FURNISH NURSERY-GROWN TREES AND SHRUBS WITH HEALTHY ROOT
SYSTEMS DEVELOPED BY TRANSPLANTING OR ROOT PRUNING.  PROVIDE WELL-SHAPED, FULLY
BRANCHED, AND HEALTHY LOOKING STOCK.  STOCK SHOULD ALSO BE FREE OF DISEASE, INSECTS,
EGGS, LARVAE, AND DEFECTS SUCH AS KNOTS, SUN SCALD, INJURIES, ABRASIONS, AND
DISFIGUREMENT.  SEE THE LANDSCAPE PLAN FOR SPECIFIC SPECIE TYPE, SIZE, AND LOCATION.

H. TREE AND SHRUB INSTALLATION:  EXCAVATE CIRCULAR PITS WITH SIDES SLOPED INWARD.  TRIM
BASE LEAVING CENTER AREA RAISED SLIGHTLY TO SUPPORT ROOT BALL.  EXCAVATE PIT
APPROXIMATELY THREE TIMES AS WIDE AS THE ROOT BALL DIAMETER.  SET TREES AND SHRUBS
PLUMB AND IN CENTER OF PIT WITH TOP OF BALL 1” ABOVE ADJACENT FINISHED GRADES.  PLACE
PLANTING SOIL MIX AROUND ROOT BALL IN LAYERS AND TAMP TO SETTLE MIX.  WATER ALL PLANTS
THOROUGHLY.  PROVIDE TEMPORARY STAKING FOR TREES AS REQUIRED.

I. TREE AND SHRUB MAINTENANCE/WARRANTY:  CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE MAINTENANCE OF ALL
LANDSCAPING FOR A PERIOD OF 90 DAYS FROM THE DATE OF INSTALLATION.  MAINTENANCE TO
INCLUDE REGULAR WATERING AS REQUIRED FOR SUCCESSFUL PLANT ESTABLISHMENT.
CONTRACTOR TO PROVIDE 1 YEAR WARRANTY ON ALL TREES, SHRUBS, AND PERENNIALS.

J. ORGANIC MULCH:  PROVIDE 3” MINIMUM THICK BLANKET OF SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH AT ALL
PLANTING AREAS INDICATED ON THE LANDSCAPE PLAN.  INSTALL OVER NON-WOVEN WEED BARRIER
FABRIC.  COLOR BY OWNER

K. PLANTER EDGING: INSTALL EDGING TO SEPARATE ALL PLANTING BEDS FROM LAWN AREAS. EDGING
TO BE 5.5" TALL CONCRETE INSTALLED PER MANUFACTURER'S WRITTEN INTSTRUCTIONS. COLOR BY
OWNER.

DIVISION 33  UTILITIES

33 10 00  SITE UTILITIES

A. CONTRACTOR TO FIELD VERIFY ALL EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITIES ON SITE.  CONTRACTOR TO
VERIFY PIPE LOCATIONS, SIZES, AND DEPTHS AT POINT OF PROPOSED CONNECTIONS AND VERIFY
PROPOSED UTILITY ROUTES ARE CLEAR (PER CODE) OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES AND OTHER
OBSTRUCTIONS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.  COSTS INCURRED FOR FAILURE TO DO SO SHALL BE THE
CONTRACTORS RESPONSIBILITY.

B. ALL PROPOSED SANITARY PIPE SHALL BE SDR-26 PVC
C. CLEANOUTS SHALL BE PROVIDED FOR THE SANITARY SERVICE AT LOCATIONS INDICATED ON THE

UTILITY PLAN.  THE CLEANOUT SHALL CONSIST OF A COMBINATION WYE FITTING IN LINE WITH THE
SANITARY SERVICE WITH THE CLEANOUT LEG OF THE COMBINATION WYE FACING STRAIGHT UP.  THE
CLEANOUT SHALL CONSIST OF A  6” VERTICAL PVC PIPE WITH A WATER TIGHT REMOVABLE
CLEANOUT PLUG.  AN 8” PVC FROST SLEEVE SHALL BE PROVIDED.  THE BOTTOM OF THE FROST
SLEEVE SHALL TERMINATE 12” ABOVE THE TOP OF THE SANITARY LATERAL OR AT LEAST 6” BELOW
THE PREDICTED FROST DEPTH, WHICHEVER IS SHALLOWER.  THE CLEANOUT SHALL EXTEND JUST
ABOVE THE SURFACE GRADE IN LAWN OR LANDSCAPE AREAS WITH THE FROST SLEEVE
TERMINATING AT THE GRADE SURFACE.  THE CLEANOUT SHALL EXTEND TO 4 INCHES BELOW
SURFACE GRADE IN PAVED SURFACES WITH A ZURN (Z-1474-N) HEAVY DUTY CLEANOUT HOUSING
PLACED OVER THE TOP OF THE CLEANOUT FLUSH WITH THE SURFACE GRADE.    IN PAVED
SURFACES, THE FROST SLEEVE SHALL TERMINATE IN A CONCRETE PAD AT LEAST 6” THICK AND
EXTENDING AT LEAST 9” FROM THE SLEEVE ON ALL SIDES, SLOPING AWAY FROM THE SLEEVE.  THE
CLEANOUT HOUSING SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED PER MANUFACTURERS REQUIREMENTS.

D. ALL PROPOSED WATER PIPE SHALL BE C906 PE FOR PIPE DIAMETERS OF 3” OR LESS, C900 PVC FOR
PIPE DIAMETERS OF 4” THROUGH 12”, AND C-905 PVC FOR PIPE DIAMETERS
OF 14” THROUGH 36”.  6' MINIMUM COVER SHALL BE PROVIDED OVER ALL WATER PIPING UNLESS
OTHERWISE SPECIFIED.

E. ALL PROPOSED HDPE STORM PIPE SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM F2648.  ALL CONCRETE
STORM PIPING SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM C14 AND ASTM C76.  SEE UTILITY PLANS FOR
ALL STORM PIPE MATERIAL TYPES TO BE USED.  PIPE SHALL BE PLACED MIN. 8' HORIZONTALLY FROM
FOUNDATION WALLS.

F. SANITARY, STORM, AND WATER UTILITY PIPE INVERTS SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED WITHIN 0.10' OF
DESIGN INVERT ELEVATIONS ASSUMING PIPE SLOPE AND SEPARATION IS MAINTAINED PER THE
UTILITY DESIGN PLANS AND STATE REQUIREMENTS.

G. SITE UTILITY CONTRACTOR SHALL RUN SANITARY SERVICE TO A POINT WHICH IS A MINIMUM OF 5'
FROM THE EXTERIOR WALL OF THE FOUNDATION.  SITE UTILITY CONTRACTOR SHALL RUN WATER
SERVICE TO A POINT WITHIN THE FOUNDATION SPECIFIED BY THE PLUMBING PLANS.  CONTRACTOR
TO CUT AND CAP WATER SERVICE 12” ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATION.

H. ALL UTILITIES SHALL BE INSTALLED WITH PLASTIC COATED TRACER WIRE (10 TO 14 GAUGE SOLID
COPPER, OR COPPER COATED STEEL WIRE).  PLASTIC WIRE MAY BE TAPED TO PLASTIC WATER OR
SEWER PIPE.  IF ATTACHED, THE TRACER WIRE SHALL BE SECURED EVERY 6 TO 20 FEET AND AT ALL
BENDS.  TRACER WIRE SHALL HAVE ACCESS POINTS AT LEAST EVERY 300 FEET.

I. ALL UTILITIES SHALL BE INSTALLED PER STATE, LOCAL, AND INDUSTRY STANDARDS.  WATER,
SANITARY, AND STORM SEWER SHALL BE INSTALLED PER "STANDARD SPECIFICATION FOR SEWER
AND WATER CONSTRUCTION IN WISCONSIN". THE DESIGN ENGINEER SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR
OBTAINING STATE PLUMBING REVIEW APPROVAL.  THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR
OBTAINING ALL OTHER PERMITS REQUIRED TO INSTALL WATER, SANITARY AND STORM SEWER.

J. SEE PLANS FOR ALL OTHER UTILITY SPECIFICATIONS AND DETAILS.

lisav
New Stamp



100 CAMELOT DRIVE
FOND DU LAC, WI 54935
PHONE: (920) 926-9800
WWW.EXCELENGINEER.COM

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2017 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET INFORMATION

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROJECT NUMBER

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

1650900

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
BU

IL
DI

N
G 

FO
R:

 

BR
U

N
K 

IN
DU

ST
RI

ES
, I

N
C.

12
25

 S
AG

E 
ST

. ●
 L

AK
E 

GE
N

EV
A,

 W
I 5

31
47

SHEET DATES

ISSUE DATE

REVISIONS

C1.1
EXISTING SITE AND
DEMOLITION PLAN

APR. 12, 2017

CB3 JUN 21, 2017



100 CAMELOT DRIVE
FOND DU LAC, WI 54935
PHONE: (920) 926-9800
WWW.EXCELENGINEER.COM

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2017 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET INFORMATION

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROJECT NUMBER

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

1650900

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
BU

IL
DI

N
G 

FO
R:

 

BR
U

N
K 

IN
DU

ST
RI

ES
, I

N
C.

12
25

 S
AG

E 
ST

. ●
 L

AK
E 

GE
N

EV
A,

 W
I 5

31
47

SHEET DATES

ISSUE DATE

REVISIONS

C1.2A
OVERALL SITE PLAN

APR. 12, 2017

CB1 MAY 12, 2017
CB3 JUN 21, 2017

30" MIN.

1'



100 CAMELOT DRIVE
FOND DU LAC, WI 54935
PHONE: (920) 926-9800
WWW.EXCELENGINEER.COM

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2017 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET INFORMATION

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROJECT NUMBER

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

1650900

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
BU

IL
DI

N
G 

FO
R:

 

BR
U

N
K 

IN
DU

ST
RI

ES
, I

N
C.

12
25

 S
AG

E 
ST

. ●
 L

AK
E 

GE
N

EV
A,

 W
I 5

31
47

SHEET DATES

ISSUE DATE

REVISIONS

C1.2B
SITE PLAN

APR. 12, 2017

CB1 MAY 12, 2017
CB3 JUN 21, 2017



100 CAMELOT DRIVE
FOND DU LAC, WI 54935
PHONE: (920) 926-9800
WWW.EXCELENGINEER.COM

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2017 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET INFORMATION

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROJECT NUMBER

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

1650900

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
BU

IL
DI

N
G 

FO
R:

 

BR
U

N
K 

IN
DU

ST
RI

ES
, I

N
C.

12
25

 S
AG

E 
ST

. ●
 L

AK
E 

GE
N

EV
A,

 W
I 5

31
47

SHEET DATES

ISSUE DATE

REVISIONS

C1.3
GRADING AND EROSION
CONTROL PLAN

APR. 12, 2017

CB1 MAY 12, 2017
CB3 JUN 21, 2017



100 CAMELOT DRIVE
FOND DU LAC, WI 54935
PHONE: (920) 926-9800
WWW.EXCELENGINEER.COM

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2017 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET INFORMATION

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROJECT NUMBER

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

1650900

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
BU

IL
DI

N
G 

FO
R:

 

BR
U

N
K 

IN
DU

ST
RI

ES
, I

N
C.

12
25

 S
AG

E 
ST

. ●
 L

AK
E 

GE
N

EV
A,

 W
I 5

31
47

SHEET DATES

ISSUE DATE

REVISIONS

C1.4
UTILITY PLAN

APR. 12, 2017

CB1 MAY 12, 2017
CB3 JUN 21, 2017

3"
6"

6"

3.
25

'



100 CAMELOT DRIVE
FOND DU LAC, WI 54935
PHONE: (920) 926-9800
WWW.EXCELENGINEER.COM

ARCHITECTS ● ENGINEERS ● SURVEYORS

©2017 EXCEL ENGINEERING, INC.

SHEET INFORMATION

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROJECT NUMBER

PROFESSIONAL SEAL

1650900

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
BU

IL
DI

N
G 

FO
R:

 

BR
U

N
K 

IN
DU

ST
RI

ES
, I

N
C.

12
25

 S
AG

E 
ST

. ●
 L

AK
E 

GE
N

EV
A,

 W
I 5

31
47

SHEET DATES

ISSUE DATE

REVISIONS

C1.5
LANDSCAPE PLAN

APR. 12, 2017

CB1 MAY 12, 2017
CB3 JUN 21 ,2017



 1 

STAFF REPORT 
To Lake Geneva Plan Commission 

Meeting Date: July 17, 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Description: 

The applicant is submitting a proposal for a Planned Development / Precise Implementation PD/PIP for 
the continuation of phase I of the Summerhaven of Lake Geneva Condominiums.  

1. The project would begin with the review of the existing residence on Summerhaven Drive 
property which they are requesting setback allowances to reduce the side and rear setbacks to 
allow the construction of an attached garage. 

2. Pool house and Pool installation. 
3. Reduce unit 209 & 207 duplex to a Single Family residence. 
4. Final road lift installation on the Phase I roadway. 
5. Road installation to a temporary “T – Turnaround” for Fire Department Vehicles on the propose 

Murry Drive extension. 
6. Future development will require additional Public Hearings at a later date. 

 
The proposed design summary as “Exhibit A” provided by the applicant identifies the items to be 
addressed for this proposal, they are listed however during discussions with staff it was identified by the 
Fire Department the original submittal that was approved the proposed cul-de-sac did not meet the 
current turning radius necessary for Lake Geneva Fire Department equipment per NFPA1 codes. 
Therefore, the plan to allow a temporary “T-turnaround” after the pool house and pool construction area 
was an acceptable proposal as a temporary installation. 
 
Understanding the applicant will need to resubmit to amend the Condominium Subdivision once their 
considerations to redesign the remaining areas to allow for the continuation of the road and additional 
units to the proposed cul-de-sac. In addition the cul-de-sac will not have an island as proposed as 
submitted albeit the plans were rushed to be received and they are aware the island will not be permitted 
as drawn. 
 

The proposed project submittal meets or exceeds all requirements of the Zoning Ordinance. 

Project Details from PIP Submittal 

Proposed Site Plans: (project # 8868) (dated 06/29/2017) generated by Farris, Hansen & Associates 
 

Agenda Item #10. 

Applicant: 
McMurr II, LLC.  
351 W. Hubbard, Suite 610 
Chicago, IL 60654 

Request: 
Summerhaven of Lake Geneva 
Condominiums  
Planned Development / Precise 
Implementation Plan 



 2 

 

Recommendation to the Common Council on the proposed Precise Implementation Plan (PIP): 
Action by the Plan Commission: 

As part of the consideration of the requested PIP, the Plan Commission is required to: 
• Provide the Common Council with a recommendation regarding the proposed PIP; 
• Include findings required by the Zoning Ordinance for PIPs; and, 
• Provide specific suggested requirements to modify the project as submitted. 

 

The proposed PIP includes: 
Staff Review Comments: 

1. Setbacks exceptions provided for the existing dwelling and the proposed setback reduction to 
install the attached garage. 

2. Pool house and Pool installation 
3. Reduce unit 209 & 207 duplex to a Single Family residence. 
4. Final road lift installation on Phase I roadway. 
5. Road installation to a temporary “T – Turnaround” for Fire Department Vehicles on the propose 

Murry Drive extension. 
 

A proposed PIP must be reviewed by the standards, below: 

Required Plan Commission Findings on the PIP for Recommendation to the Common Council: 

A. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend approval, then the appropriate 
fact finding would be all
a. In general, the proposed Precise Implementation Plan 

 of the following: 
is in harmony

b. Specific to this site, the proposed Precise Implementation Plan 

 with the purposes, goals, 
objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and any 
other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official notice by 
the City. 

is in harmony

c. The proposed Precise Implementation Plan in its proposed location, and as depicted on the 
required site plan 

 with the purposes, 
goals, objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, 
and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official 
notice by the City. 

does not result

d. The proposed Precise Implementation Plan 

 in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, 
the character of the neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public 
improvements, public property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, 
safety, or general welfare, either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as 
a result of the implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive 
Plan or any other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to 
official notice by the City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide 
development. 

maintains

 

 the desired consistency of land uses, land 
use intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 



 3 

e. The proposed Precise Implementation Plan is located in an area

f. The potential public benefits of the proposed Precise Implementation Plan 

 that will be adequately served 
by, and will not impose an undue burden on any improvements, facilities, utilities or services 
provided by public agencies serving the subject property. 

outweigh

 

 all 
potential adverse impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the 
Applicant’s proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such 
impacts. 

B. If, after the public hearing, the Commission wishes to recommend denial, then the appropriate fact 
finding would be one or more

a. In general, the proposed Precise Implementation Plan 

 of the following: 

is not in harmony

b. Specific to this site, the proposed Precise Implementation Plan 

 with the purposes, 
goals, objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, 
and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant to official 
notice by the City. 

is not in harmony

c. The proposed Precise Implementation Plan in its proposed location, and as depicted on the 
required site plan 

 with the 
purposes, goals, objectives, policies and standards of the City's Comprehensive Plan, Zoning 
Ordinance, and any other plan, program, or ordinance adopted, or under consideration pursuant 
to official notice by the City. 

does result

d. The proposed Precise Implementation Plan 

 in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the 
character of the neighborhood, environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public 
improvements, public property or rights-of-way, or other matters affecting the public health, 
safety, or general welfare, either as they now exist or as they may in the future be developed as 
a result of the implementation of the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance, the Comprehensive 
Plan or any other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under consideration pursuant to 
official notice by the City or other governmental agency having jurisdiction to guide 
development. 

does not maintain

e. The proposed Precise Implementation Plan 

 the desired consistency of land 
uses, land use intensities, and land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property. 

is not located in an area

f. The potential public benefits of the proposed Precise Implementation Plan 

 that will be adequately 
served by, and will impose an undue burden on any of the improvements, facilities, utilities or 
services provided by public agencies serving the subject property. 

do not outweigh

 

 all 
potential adverse impacts of the proposed conditional use after taking into consideration the 
Applicant’s proposal and any requirements recommended by the Applicant to ameliorate such 
impacts. 

1. Staff recommends that the Plan Commission recommend approval of the proposed Precise 
Implementation Plan as submitted, with the findings under A.1-6., above. 

Staff Recommendation on the proposed Precise Implementation Plan: 

2. Staff recommends the Plan Commission adopt the affirmative set of findings provided above. 
3. Finally, staff recommends that the following additional condition of approval be attached to the 

approval: 
a. That the location of all approved building setbacks be verified by an on-site inspection by 

the Building Administrator prior to pouring building foundation walls. 











1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUMMERHAVEN 
OF  

LAKE GENEVA CONDOMINIUM 
 

SECOND AMENDMENT TO PRECISE 
IMPLEMENTATION PLAN (PIP) 

 
Applicant: McMurr II, LLC, 

an Illinois limited liability company 
 

June 1, 2017 
 
  



2 
 

EXHIBIT A 
PIP SECOND AMENDMENT - NARRATIVE 

 
 
  The property described in the attached Exhibit B incorporated herein, 
approximately 8.04 acres, is zoned by the City of Lake Geneva (“City”) as PD, Planned 
Development Zoning District (“Summerhaven”).  Ten (10) duplex dwellings in five (5) buildings 
for Summerhaven have been constructed, as well as three (3) single-family dwellings.  Much of 
the public infrastructure (municipal water and sanitary sewer mains) and most of the private 
infrastructure (storm water management system, private streets, and public utilities) have been 
installed to accommodate the thirty-seven (37) units originally approved for Summerhaven, as 
well as capacity for an additional forty-seven (47) units approved for the second and third phases 
of the original project.   
 
  McMurr II, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company (“McMurr II”), the 
Successor Declarant of Summerhaven and the owner of seventeen (17) of the units and the lands 
comprising the second and third phases of the original project, among other things, has cleared 
Summerhaven of the piles of broken asphalt resulting from the demolition of a parking lot by an 
earlier developer, has cleaned out the storm water management ponds to restore their capacity, 
has altered the storm water drainage to avoid flooding neighboring property on the north 
boundary of Summerhaven, and extended Summerhaven Drive to Lake Geneva Boulevard, 
paving the emergency vehicles access for Summerhaven.    
 
  Under the First Amendment to the PIP for Summerhaven by McMurr II, approved 
by the City May 27, 2014 (“First Amendment”), the number of approved duplex units is fourteen 
(14) in seven (7) buildings, and fifteen (15) single-family units, a total of twenty-nine (29) units.  
 
  McMurr II proposes the following amendments to the PIP for Summerhaven 
under this Second Amendment: 
 
  1. Residence Street Yard Setback Flexibility – Garage:  Unit 208 of 
Summerhaven (“Unit 208”) contains a single-family residence that formerly served as part of the 
Stone Manor Estate (“Residence”).  The use of the Residence as a clubhouse under the original 
PIP has been eliminated by the Third Amendment to the Declaration of Condominium for 
Summerhaven (“Third Condominium Amendment”) that was approved simultaneously by the 
City with the First Amendment and by the requisite majority of the Summerhaven unit owners 
and their lenders.  McMurr II proposes to sell the Residence as a single-family residence.  To be 
sold, the Residence must include a garage and a connecting addition (collectively, “Garage”).  
The Residence, as approved, has already been granted flexibility from the 18½ foot minimum 
street yard setback from the right-of-way for Summerhaven Drive, with the northeast corner of 
the Residence 10.4 feet from such right-of-way, and the porch only 2.08 feet from the right-of-
way.  Given the limitations imposed by the size of Unit 208 and the location of the Residence on 
Unit 208, McMurr II proposes that the Garage be granted flexibility to be 10.85 feet from the 
right-of-way at its northwest corner.  The Garage will conform in style, color and materials to 
blend with the Residence, and will comply with the six (6) foot side yard setback at 7.6 feet.  See 



3 
 

the attached Group Exhibit C incorporated herein for the site plan, north and west elevations, and 
the floor plans for the Residence and Garage.   
 
  2. Pool and Pool House:  The original plan of Summerhaven, as well as 
§8.23 of the Third Condominium Amendment, call for an outdoor swimming pool and a pool 
house as an amenity for the Summerhaven unit owners of all phases, to be used and maintained 
by them.  McMurr II proposes to construct the promised outdoor swimming pool and pool house 
(collectively, “Pool and Pool House”) on a common element of Summerhaven in the same 
general location as under the original plan.  The Pool House, approximately six hundred twenty 
(620) square feet inside, will house pool equipment and men’s and women’s bathrooms.  A 
wrought-iron fence, at least four (4) feet in height, will enclose the Pool and Pool House.  
Exterior lighting of the Pool and Pool House Area will be provided, with the lighting properly 
mounted and shielded to meet the lighting requirements of §98-707 of the City Zoning 
Ordinance.  A temporary construction road accessing Wells Street will be installed to permit 
construction of the next phase of construction of the project.  The construction road will be 
completely removed, the curb cut eliminated, and the area landscaped when the road is no longer 
necessary.  See the Pool and Pool House Plans attached as Group Exhibit D and incorporated 
herein for the site plan, floor plan, foundation plan, wall types, building section and handicap 
details. 
 
  3. Change Duplex to One Single-Family Dwelling:  McMurr II proposes to 
convert Units 209 and 207 from two (2) duplexes in one (1) building with a zero side yard 
setback to no principal building on Unit 209 and a single-family dwelling on Unit 207, with one 
(1) driveway entrance for Unit 207 on Murray Drive only, limited to the northeast fifty (50) feet 
of Unit 207, to ensure a safe distance between the driveway entrance and the intersection of 
Murray Drive and Summerhaven Drive.  McMurr II requests flexibility to permit a six (6) foot 
rear yard setback, instead of fifteen (15) feet, on Unit 207.  In support of such flexibility, note 
that the neighboring Unit 209, only three thousand three hundred twenty-three (3,323) square 
feet in area and about thirty-eight (38) feet in width, is unlikely to have a single-family dwelling 
located on it, particularly with twelve (12) feet in total side yard setbacks.  The change in the mix 
of duplexes and single-family dwellings will reduce the number of approved duplexes to twelve 
(12) in six (6) buildings, and increase the number of single-family dwellings to sixteen (16), with 
one (1) vacant land unit, i.e., Unit 209, in Summerhaven.  See attached Exhibit E incorporated 
herein, depicting Unit 207 as proposed. 
 
  4. Final Lift and Murray Drive Terminus Installed for Phase One:  
McMurr II will install the final lift of asphalt on the portions of Summerhaven that have been 
paved to the surface course, and will install municipal water and sanitary sewer mains to serve 
five (5) lots on Murray Drive and the Pool and Pool House.  McMurr has posted with the City 
sufficient bond to cover the cost of the final lift and the installation of the mains.  McMurr II will 
also install a turnaround at the north terminus of Murray Drive that meets applicable standards, 
to accommodate emergency vehicles and other traffic.  Such a turnaround may result in the loss 
of a dwelling unit in Summerhaven, reducing the total number from twenty-nine (29) to twenty-
eight (28).  Such turnaround may intrude on adjoining real property owned by McMurr II, 
approximately 1.75 acres, Property Index Number ZSUM 00001, which is more particularly 
described in the attached Exhibit F incorporated herein.  



4 
 

 
  Planned density in Summerhaven will be reduced from approximately 3.625 
dwelling units per acre to approximately 3.5 dwelling units per acre, a slightly lower density that 
will not threaten the viability of the Summerhaven community.  The floor area ratio and the 
impervious surface ratio of Summerhaven will be reduced slightly by the one (1) or two (2) 
dwelling unit reduction.   
 
  The reduction of one (1) or two (2) dwelling units will not substantially change 
the private street configuration, will not affect the existing storm water management plans, and 
will reduce the load on the municipal water and sewer mains already in place.  Consequently, 
extensive re-engineering of the infrastructure will not be required. 
 
  The PD, Planned Development Zoning District, zoning for the second and third 
phases of the original project has expired, and the City has rezoned the phases to TR-6, Two 
Family Zoning District.  The ten (10) year period during which the phases could be added to 
Summerhaven as expansion units under the Wisconsin Condominium Ownership Act has also 
expired.  McMurr II shall apply to the City to rezone these phases as PD, Planned Development 
Zoning District.  McMurr II will propose a cross-easement agreement between Summerhaven 
and the condominium association of the other two (2) phases, to maintain, repair and replace the 
private roads, storm water management facilities, the Pool and Pool House, and other common 
amenities and infrastructure used by all.   
 
  A map of Summerhaven, showing all lands within three hundred (300) feet, and a 
list of the names and addresses of the owners of all lands on said map, indicating the current 
zoning of Summerhaven and its environs, and the jurisdiction, is attached as Group Exhibit G 
and incorporated herein.      
 
  Except as modified by this Second Amenment to the PIP for Summerhaven, the 
PIP remains unchanged.  The landscaping, signage, lighting, organizational structure, and the 
consistency of the PIP, as amended hereby, and the GDP, are not materially changed.  Because 
most of the public infrastructure improvements for Summerhaven are installed, no proof of 
additional financing capability is needed, although McMurr II will keep the performance bond 
deposited with the City up to date.  McMurr II will provide proof of financing capability, in the 
form of a performance bond, letter of credit or other surety, for the construction of any additional 
public improvements, if the second and third phases of the project are rezoned and developed as 
a PD, Planned Development Zoning District. 
 
  McMurr II believes that this Second Amendment to the PIP will render 
Summerhaven a more viable and improved in-fill development for the City.   
 

T:\M\McMurr, LLC\Summerhaven\2017 PIP\off copy\pip amndt-6.docx  



5 
 

SUMMERHAVEN OF LAKE GENEVA CONDOMINIUM 
EXHIBIT B 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF SUMMERHAVEN 
 
 
Units 101, 103, 107, 109, 112, 116, 126, 202, 204, 207, 208, 209, 210, 215, 216, 217, 221, 223, 
224, 226, 227, 229, 230, 232, 237, 239, 241, 245, and 247 in the Summerhaven of Lake Geneva 
Condominium, created by a "Declaration of Condominium" recorded on March 28, 2007, in the 
Office of the register of Deeds for Walworth County, Wisconsin, as Document No. 704378, 
together with any amendments and/or corrections thereto, and by its Condominium Plat and any 
amendments and/or corrections thereto. Said condominium being located in the City of Lake 
Geneva, County of Walworth, and State of Wisconsin (end of legal description). 
 
Tax Key Numbers: ZSUM 00101, ZSUM 00103, ZSUM 00107, ZSUM 00109, ZSUM 00112, 
ZSUM 00116, ZSUM 00126, ZSUM 00202, ZSUM 00204, ZSUM 00207, ZSUM 00208, ZSUM 
00209, 210, ZSUM 00215, ZSUM 00216, ZSUM 00217, ZSUM 00221, ZSUM 00223, ZSUM 
00224, ZSUM 00226, ZSUM 00227, ZSUM 00229, ZSUM 00230, ZSUM 00232, ZSUM 00237, 
ZSUM 00239, ZSUM 00241, ZSUM 00245, and ZSUM 00247. 
 
 
  



6 
 

SUMMERHAVEN OF LAKE GENEVA CONDOMINIUM 
GROUP EXHIBIT C 

RESIDENCE & GARAGE 
SITE PLANS, ELEVATIONS, & FLOOR PLANS 

 
 
  See attached. 
  





























9 
 

SUMMERHAVEN OF LAKE GENEVA CONDOMINIUM  
EXHIBIT F 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION – ADJOINING 1.75 ACRE PARCEL 
FOR TURNAROUND 

 
PARCEL 1: THAT PART OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF 
SECTION 36, TOWN 2 NORTH, RANGE 17 EAST, CITY OF LAKE GENEVA, 
WALWORTH COUNTY, WISCONSIN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF LOT 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY 
MAP NO. 754, RECORDED AS DOCUMENT NO. 28944 OF WALWORTH COUNTY 
CERTIFIED SURVEYS, SAID POINT LOCATED S 89DEG 31MIN 36SEC W, 733.28 FEET 
FROM THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 36 (T2N, R17E); THENCE N 
89DEG 38MIN 40SEC E, 89.98 FEET; THENCE N 89DEG 37MIN 23SEC E, 90.50 FEET TO 
THE WEST LINE OF LAKE GENEVA BOULEVARD; THENCE N 01DEG 34MIN 47SEC 
W, 348.82 FEET ALONG SAID BOULEVARD TO THE SOUTHWEST LINE OF WELLS 
STREET; THENCE N 37DEG 55MIN 32SEC W, ALONG SAID STREET, 202.94 FEET; 
THENCE S 89DEG 18MIN 48SEC W, 239.56 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 
THENCE S 00DEG 41MIN 12SEC E, 50.00 FEET; THENCE S 01DEG 55MIN 11SEC E, 
134.92 FEET; THENCE S 89DEG 31MIN 07SEC W, 24.01 FEET; THENCE S 01DEG 12MIN 
03SEC E, 16.91 FEET; THENCE S 88DEG 41MIN 15SEC W, 42.80 FEET; THENCE N 
86DEG 27MIN 48SEC W, 126.62 FEET; THENCE S 88DEG 58MIN 07SEC W, 199.39 FEET 
TO THE EAST LINE OF LAKE SHORE VILLAGE CONDOMINIUM; THENCE ALONG 
SAID CONDOMINIUM, N 00DEG 11MIN 05SEC W, 6.62 FEET; THENCE CONTINUE, N 
00DEG 47MIN 32SEC W, 187.44 FEET; THENCE N 89DEG 18MIN 48SEC E, 389.70 FEET 
TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  CONTAINING 76,247 SQUARE FEET (1.75 ACRES) OF 
LAND, MORE OR LESS (end of legal description). 
 
Property Index Number: ZSUM 00001 
  



10 
 

SUMMERHAVEN OF LAKE GENEVA CONDOMINIUM  
GROUP EXHIBIT G 

PROPERTY OWNERS WITHIN 300 FEET 
OF SUBJECT PROPERTY - LIST & MAP 

 
 
  See attached. 





















 
 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 

To: City of Lake Geneva  

From: Mike Slavney, FAICP, City Planner 

Date: July 12, 2017 

Re: An Introduction to the Requested 2017 Amendments to the City of Lake Geneva 
Comprehensive Plan 

Introduction 

Every year, the City of Lake Geneva holds a Comprehensive Plan amendment period between May 
and October. The Annual Plan Amendment Cycle allows the months of May and June for Plan 
amendments to be proposed. This year, the City has received five proposals to amend the Plan. 

The annual Cycle allows for informal Plan Commission discussion of Plan amendment proposals 
during the months of July and August, before starting the formal public hearing process in 
September. During the July and August Plan Commission meetings, an agenda item is created to 
introduce the proposed amendments, allow Plan amendment advocates to explain their proposals 
to the Commission, and for the Commission to discuss the proposals with one-another, and with 
the advocates. Other members of the public are also invited to weigh-in on the proposals. 

During the May through June proposal process, five Comprehensive Plan amendments have been 
suggested for formal review. They include one proposed policy change, and four changes to the 
Future Land Use Map (and associated descriptive text in the body of the Land Use chapter of the 
Plan. 

The attached Future Land Use Maps depicts the proposed areas of change. The current Future 
Land Use Category is the color depicted on the maps. The proposed Future Land Use Category is 
described in the text box and outlined with the solid red line. 

 

 

Proposed 2017 Amendments to the Comprehensive Plan: 

 

Proposed Amendment to Comprehensive Plan Policies: 

A. To add a policy that requires any proposed change to the Comprehensive Plan to be 
subject to approval by a public referendum. 

 

 

Proposed Amendments to the Future Land Use Map are Presented on the Following Page. 
  



12 July 2017   Page 2 of 2 

Proposed Amendments to the Future Land Use Maps 
(See attached Maps 5a – Planning Area Coverage; and Map 5b Central City Area Coverage): 
 

1. 905 West Main Street: (See attached Planning Area and Zoom-In Maps.) 

From the Neighborhood Mixed Use land use category to the Planned Business land use 
category. 

 

2. Former Hillmoor Golf Course: (See attached Planning Area and Zoom-In Maps.) 

a. North Section to remain in the Private Recreation Facilities land use category; 

b. Central Section to change from the Private Recreation Facility land use category to the 
Planned Mixed Use land use category; 

c. Southwest Section to change from the Private Recreation Facility land use category to 
the Two-Family /Townhouse Residential land use category; and, 

d. Wis Hwy 50 frontage to remain in the Private Recreation Facilities land use category; 

 

3. Geneva Inn Parcels: (See attached Planning Area and Zoom-In Maps.) 

a. Parcels to remain in the Planned Business land use category; 

b. Part of Eastern parcel (east of South Lakeshore Drive) to change from the 
Agricultural & Rural land use category to the Planned Business land use category; and, 

c. 2 and ½ Western parcels (west of South Lakeshore Drive) to change from the 
Agricultural & Rural land use category to the Planned Business land use category. 

 

4. 751 Geneva Parkway North plus adjacent remnant of Lot 2: (See attached Planning 
Area and Zoom-In Maps.) 

From the Planned Industrial land use category to the Planned Business land use category. 

 

I encourage the Plan Commission to begin to discuss these proposals at the July Plan Commission 
meeting, including the possibility for public comments during the consideration of this item by 
proposing parties, as well as the general public. 



!
!

!!

!

! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!

! !

!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!!!

!

!
!

!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!!!

!

!

! !

!
!

! !

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!!!!
!

!
!

! ! !

! !

!

!

!

!

! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!!!
!!

!
!

!

!

!!

!!

!

!

!
!

!!
!

!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

! ! ! !
!

!

!

!

! ! !

! ! !

! ! ! !
!

!

!
!

!

!

!
! ! !

!

!

!

!

! !

!

! !

!
!

! ! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! ! !
!

!

!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!!!!
!

!
!

!!

!!!!

!!!
!!!

!

!
!

!!!!

!

!
!

!!!
!

!!!
!

!
!

!!

!
!

! ! !
! !

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!!

!!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!!
!

! !
!

!
!

! !

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

! !
!

!
! ! !

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!!!!!!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
! !

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!!!!

!
!

!
!

! ! ! !

!

!

! !

!

! !

!
!

!

!!
!

!
!

!

! ! ! ! !

!

!

!
!

!

!

! !
!

!!
!

!

!
!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!
!

! ! ! ! !

!
!

!
!

!
!

!! !
!

!
! !

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

Town Of Lyons
Town Of Bloomfield

Town Of Geneva

Town Of Geneva
Town Of Linn

Town Of Linn Town Of Bloomfield
Town Of Lyons

WHITE RIVER STATE TRAIL

G R E E N B E L T
C

O
R

R
I

D
O

R

G
R E E N B E L T

C
O

R
R

I
D

O
R

Whit
e R

ive
r

Como Creek

Ore Creek

Ore Creek

W

Bran ch
Ni

pp
ers

ink
Cr

eek

N
Br

an
ch

Ni
pp

ers
ink Creek

West Branch Creek

N Branch Nippe rs ink Creek

Whit
e R

ive
r

Como Creek

Geneva Lake

Lake Como

Pell
Lake

Peterkin
Pond

Hillside Rd

W Side Rd

Bloomfield Rd

Zenda Rd

Back Rd

Springfield Rd

Willow Rd

UV120

")NN
Co

mo
 Rd

Krueger Rd

Deignam Rd

White Pigeon Rd

Buckby Rd

Spring Creek Rd

UV36

£¤12

Litchfield Rd

£¤12

Snake Rd

MacDonald Rd

Lake Geneva
Hwy

Marshall Ln

Short Rd

")H

Town Line Rd

Migonette

Krueger Rd

South St

North Rd

Town Line Rd

Shore Rd

Wells St

Elkhorn St

William
s St

UV120

")H

")NN

")BB

Park Dr

Bowers R
d Back Rd

Dodge St

Conant St

Center St

Sheridan
St

Sheridan Sp
rin

gs
Rd

Elmwood
    Ave

Wisconsin   St

Madison St

Coun try Clu bD r

S L
ak

e S h
or

eD
r

W Main  St E Main St

UV50

UV120

UV50

MARCUS
GRAND GENEVA

RESORT

HILLMOOR
GOLF COURSE

GENEVA
COUNTRY

CLUB

BIG FOOT BEACH
STATE PARK

BLOOMFIELD
WILDLIFE AREA

Private Recreation Facilities to Planned Mixed Use

To Remain Private Recreation Facilities

Private Recreation Facilities to Two-Family/Townhouse Residential

Planned Industrial to Planned Business

Agriculture & Rural or Planned Business to Planned BusinessAgriculture & Rural or Planned Business to Planned Business

Neighborhood Mixed Use to ?

Source: SEWRPC, WIDNR,
             Walworth County LIO, V&A

.0 0.5 10.25
Miles

Map 5a:  Future Land Use - City of  Lake Geneva Comprehensive Plan
Land Use Categories

Abandoned Railroad
Surface Water
Parcels
Extraterritorial Jurisdiction Boundary

Township Boundary
City of  Lake Geneva

Urban Service Area Boundary

!

! !

!!

Agricultural & Rural
Single Family Residential - Exurban
Single Family Residential - Urban
Two-Family/Townhouse Residential
Multi-Family Residential

Neighborhood Mixed Use
Planned Office
Planned Business

Central Business District

Planned Industrial
General Industrial
Institutional & Community Services
Private Recreation Facilities
Public Park & Recreation
Environmental Corridor

*Each "Planned Mixed Use Area" may include mix of:
     1. Planned Office
     2. Multi-Family Residential
     3. Institutional & Community Services
     4. Planned Business

Shapes on map represent general recommendations for future land use. Actual
boundaries between different land use categories and associated zoning districts may
vary somewhat from representations on this map. Please see the City's Comprehensive
Plan document for specific policies related to the land use categories shown on this
map. Environmental Corridors depicted on this map use generalized boundaries of
environmental features identified by the DNR and the City of  Lake Geneva. Actual
Environmental Corridor boundaries are to be refined through detailed on-site
investigation.

*Each "Planned Neighborhood" may include a mix of:
     1. Single Family - Urban (predominate land use)
     2. Two-Family/Townhouse
     3. Multi-Family Residential
     4. Institutional & Community Services
     5. Neighborhood Mixed Use
     6. Public Park & Recreation

1
2

345
6

Planned Mixed Use

Long Range Exurban Growth Area
Adopted: October 24, 2014

Planned Neighborhood

Proposed Comprehensive Plan Amendments: 7/6/17



!!!!!!!!!!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!
!

!
!

!
!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

! ! !
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

Agriculture & Rural
to Planned Business

Agriculture & Rural to Planned Business

To Remain Planned BusinessTo Remain Planned Business

S L
ake

 Sh
ore

 Dr

Magmin Ln

Source: SEWRPC, WIDNR,
             Walworth County LIO, V&A

.

Map 5a:  Future Land Use - City of  Lake Geneva Comprehensive Plan
Land Use Categories

Abandoned Railroad
Surface Water
Parcels
Extraterritorial Jurisdiction Boundary

Township Boundary
City of  Lake Geneva

Urban Service Area Boundary

!

! !

!!

Agricultural & Rural
Single Family Residential - Exurban
Single Family Residential - Urban
Two-Family/Townhouse Residential
Multi-Family Residential

Neighborhood Mixed Use
Planned Office
Planned Business

Central Business District

Planned Industrial
General Industrial
Institutional & Community Services
Private Recreation Facilities
Public Park & Recreation
Environmental Corridor

*Each "Planned Mixed Use Area" may include mix of:
     1. Planned Office
     2. Multi-Family Residential
     3. Institutional & Community Services
     4. Planned Business

*Each "Planned Neighborhood" may include a mix of:
     1. Single Family - Urban (predominate land use)
     2. Two-Family/Townhouse
     3. Multi-Family Residential
     4. Institutional & Community Services
     5. Neighborhood Mixed Use
     6. Public Park & Recreation

1
2

345
6

Planned Mixed Use

Long Range Exurban Growth Area
Adopted: October 24, 2014

Planned Neighborhood

Planned Industrial to Planned Business

Edwards Blvd

State Hwy 120 Geneva PkwyGeneva Pkwy N

!
!

!
!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!
!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!!!!!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!!!!!!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
!

!
!

!!!!!!!!!
!

!
!

!
!

!!!!!!!!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!!!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!!!!!

!!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!!!!!!!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!!!!!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!
!

! !
!

!
!

!
!

!
! ! ! !

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!
! !

!

!

!

!
!

! ! ! ! !

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!!!!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!!!!!!!!!!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !
!

! !

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!!!!!!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

! ! ! !
!

! !

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !

!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!
!

HILLMOOR
GOLF COURSE

Private Recreation Facilities
to Planned Mixed Use

To Remain Private Recreation Facilities

Private Recreation Facilities to
Two-Family/Townhouse Residential

Main St
State Rd 50

State Hwy 50

US Hwy 12

Pe
lle

r R
d

State Hwy 120

Ea
st 

Dr

Ed
wa

rd
s B

lvd

W Main St

Sheridan St

Haskins St

We
st 

Dr

N 
Cu

rti
s S

t

Al
len

da
le 

Av
e

US Hwy 12

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!
!

!!!!!

Neighborhood Mixed Use to ?

W Main St

Co
ok

 St

State Rd 50State Hwy 50

Wr
igl

ey
 D

r

100
Feet

1 Inch = 
800

Feet

1 Inch = 

500
Feet

1 Inch = 
200

Feet

1 Inch = 

Shapes on map represent general recommendations for future land use. Actual
boundaries between different land use categories and associated zoning districts may
vary somewhat from representations on this map. Please see the City's Comprehensive
Plan document for specific policies related to the land use categories shown on this
map. Environmental Corridors depicted on this map use generalized boundaries of
environmental features identified by the DNR and the City of  Lake Geneva. Actual
Environmental Corridor boundaries are to be refined through detailed on-site
investigation.

Proposed Comprehensive Plan Amendments: 7/6/17









 

1 

 

ADDENDUM “1”  

  TO CITY OF LAKE GENEVA 

APPLICATION FOR AMENDMENT TO THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

 

C.  Future Proposed Use: The Property (or the “Site”) is a large, strategically placed tract at the 

entryway to the City of Lake Geneva surrounded by a mix of uses, including multi-family 

residential, single-family residential, industrial, commercial and recreational uses.  Highway 50 

currently serves as the sole entrance to the Site, however the Site is immediately adjacent to 

Turkey Farm Road and Peller Road which presents enhanced opportunities for site development. 

 

The Site is surrounded by a mix of zoning uses including, Planned Business “PB”, Planned 

Office “PO”, and Planned Development “PD” to the east, unzoned residential and Planned 

Business “PB” to the south, Planned Office “PO”, Planned Development “PD”, Two Family 

Residential “TR-6” and Rural Holding “RH” to the west and Planned Industrial “PI”, General 

Industrial “GI”: and Rural Holding “RH” to the north.  In addition, part of the northern portion of 

the Site contains a Secondary and Primary Environmental Corridor and City Sewer Treatment 

Facility.  Thus, the future proposed uses must be mixed and take into account the reality of the 

Site being surrounded by a mix of extremely divergent uses.   

 

The Site is strategically located for a potential trail connection from downtown Lake Geneva 

proper to the White River Trail located northeast of Lake Geneva.  The planning for the Site and 

its uses will incorporate this connection into the development plan by designating area route for 

the White River Trail extension through the Site.  

 

Given all of the foregoing, retaining the designation of Private Recreation in the northern portion 

of the Site marries the potential future uses of the Site for purposes of the Comprehensive Plan, 

into categories of Planned Mixed Use and Two-Family/ Townhouse Residential, to the uses 

surrounding the Site, while allowing for the connectivity that is important to the planning for the 

Site. 

 

All future development of the Site will require various City approvals along with public input 

collected through public hearing process, all governed by the City’s Zoning Ordinance. The 

conceptual uses anticipated and allowed by these planning designations may include the 

following: 

 

• Single-family residential, townhouses, senior housing, neighborhood mixed uses and 

recreational uses within the Two-Family/Townhouse Residential.  

• Hospitality, retail, community service/health club uses, multi-family and office uses in 

the Planned Mixed Use area.  

• The Private Recreation area supports the open space and nature trail use anticipated for 

the Site.  

 

 

 

 

 



 

2 

 

Part D.  

 

1. How will the proposed amendment to the Comprehensive Plan benefit the public, 

City, and/or surrounding neighbors or neighborhoods?  
 

The Site is fallow since 2008, over nine years ago.  Buildings were demolished and 

certain areas cleared of brush at the City's request in 2016. The Site is essentially an 

attractive nuisance and hardly creates an inviting entrance to the City.  For all intents and 

purposes, the Site is blighted.   The proposed development of the Site will eliminate these 

blighted conditions and place the Site back to an economically productive use, generate 

tax revenue and jobs for the City while at the same time enhancing recreation 

opportunities and providing environmental and other benefits more fully set forth in this 

Application.  

 

Our understanding is that the residential community directly to the west of the Site 

currently encounters problems with storm water runoff during heavy rains. The 

development of the Site will allow storm water runoff to be properly managed in 

accordance with City, County and State regulation.  This directly benefits the site to the 

west. The Two Family/Townhouse Residential designation is consistent with what these 

properties to the west are currently zoned. 

 

Highway 50 experiences congestion when tourist traffic in the community is heavy which 

causes problems for residents traversing Highway 50, particularly those seeking to shop 

in the commercial areas along Edwards Blvd.  The neighborhoods along Havenwood 

Drive, Hank Jay Drive and Country Club Drive are particularly adversely affected 

because they are dead end streets whose sole access is onto Highway 50.  The 

development of the Site could allow for the improvement of Peller Road and Turkey 

Farm Road and provide an alternative east-west corridor parallel to Highway 50 for 

access to and from the Site, which should help alleviate traffic congestion on Highway 

50.  If approved, this cross access could also be provided to the Site lying to the west to 

provide them another means of ingress and egress from their Site.  Such regional 

connectivity through roadway connections will benefit the public. 

  

Housing supply in the City has traditionally focused on single family lots. This plan 

allows for and promotes housing alternatives, including single family, multi-family, 

senior housing, specifically senior housing addressing memory care, assisted living and 

independent living needs of the older population. Allowing seniors to age in place is an 

important public benefit supplied by the proposal. In addition, there appears to be a niche 

for cottage style homes developed in a green, non-traditional manner suitable for the 

larger acreage available in the Site. Supplying alternative housing meeting these markets 

would be a public benefit.   

 

Retention of the Private Recreation Facilities classification on the northern part of the 

Site will preserve the environmental corridor.  A proposed trail system, approximately 

one and a half miles long, would connect downtown Lake Geneva to the Red Route bike 

path on Edwards Boulevard allowing for access by the larger community for bicycling, 



 

3 

 

walking, cross country skiing and possibly a canoe launch area for the White River.  

Engagement with DNR as part of this development may permit enhancement of this area 

in an environmentally appropriate and educational manner, such as providing tree, plant 

and fauna identification markers, and view areas.  Opening the Site in this manner is 

clearly a community benefit. 

 

Adding hospitality venues to the Site will complement these recreational and other 

planned uses, and provide additional revenue to the City, which is another public benefit 

offered by the proposed changes to the Comprehensive Plan.  Further, given the 

recreational opportunities, including the proposed trail system, the changes to the Plan 

allow for the hospitality venues to access these opportunities by walking as opposed to 

driving and adding traffic to Highway 50.  

 

2. How does the request advance the Comprehensive Plan vision, and the goals, objectives 

and policies for the chapter within which the amendment affects?  

 

As noted in Chapter 5 of the Comprehensive Plan, Section G, “the Comprehensive Plan is 

focused on minimizing potential future land use conflicts through thoughtful placement of 

possible conflicting new uses, high quality design and buffering of possible conflicting uses.”  

The proposal implements this focus and furthers the Comprehensive Plan by dividing the Site 

into appropriate uses that are complementary to the adjoining zoning classifications to the Site, 

the two proposed designations allow the Site to obtain zoning designations that complement or 

match the existing abutting land uses.  

 

Chapter 5 of the Comprehensive Plan, Section I sets out that the goal of the Land Use Plan is to 

“promote a future development pattern that contains a sustainable mix of land uses to serve the 

needs of a diverse City population and business community.” The proposed Plan amendments 

achieve this goal by providing the public benefits noted in Part C. of this application, including, 

providing connectivity to valuable natural resources of the community through the trail corridor 

connecting the White River to downtown Lake Geneva, enhancing the environmental corridors, 

addressing traffic connectivity needs both from a vehicular standpoint of improved and better 

street connections but also pedestrian and bicycle access, providing alternative housing 

opportunities for underserved populations and retail and hospitality uses in proximity to a 

recreation center that serves as the hub of the development.  

 

The six objectives of Chapter 5 of the Comprehensive Plan, Section I are met by the proposed 

Comprehensive Plan change as follows: 

 

1. The division of the large 190 acre Site into smaller, compact areas promotes compact, 

appropriate development on the Site that complements surrounding uses while providing 

energy efficient land use patterns and an appropriate balance of preservation of open 

space.   

2. The potential for connection to downtown Lake Geneva to the White River Trail which 

supports land uses and designs that enhance the City’s identity. 



 

4 

 

3. The plan provides opportunities for development by providing a mix of housing, 

recreation, office, retail and hospitality uses in a flexible manner that protects the long-

term growth of the City.   

4. The plan allows for and promotes housing alternatives, including senior housing, 

cottages, single family residential and multi-family uses, meeting the objective of 

promoting a mix of housing in the community in one location as opposed to segregating 

housing types in different parts of the City.   

5. The entire design focus is interconnectivity from a pedestrian and vehicular standpoint 

that connects the larger community that is now split by the Site meeting the 

Comprehensive Plan objective to develop interconnected neighborhoods. 

6. The proposed Plan, through a development that features a strong recreational, retail and 

hospitality component by providing a Planned Mixed Use designation in the area 

adjoining the existing commercial area to the east, provides sufficient improved business 

sites for the City to be attractive in drawing and retaining high quality businesses.  

 

• Section I, Chapter 5 of the Comprehensive Plan calls upon the City to “actively 

promote infill development and redevelopment where opportunities exist as a means 

to improve neighborhood conditions, increase local economic and shopping 

opportunities and make use of existing infrastructure investments.”  As noted above, 

the Site is blighted, provides minimal tax revenue to the City and impedes pedestrian 

and vehicular connection through the City.  The proposed Comprehensive Plan 

changes serve the policy of promoting infill development to improve neighborhood 

conditions by addressing storm water and traffic problems, providing potential access 

to downtown Lake Geneva and the White River Trail through a trail corridor, and by 

providing economic and shopping opportunities.   

• In addition, the proposed Plan implements the policy of utilizing existing 

infrastructure for development as sewer, water, electrical and gas run through the 

Site.  This infrastructure will be incorporated into and, as appropriate, enhanced by 

the development of the Site. 

• Further, by balancing the Site with residential, retail, office and recreational uses, the 

proposed Plan creates neighborhood commercial uses that conveniently serve 

residential areas, advancing another policy goal of Section I, Chapter 5 of the 

Comprehensive Plan.  

• Moreover, the division of the Site into different land uses on the Comprehensive Plan 

Map further ensures logical transitions between potentially incompatible land uses as 

called for under the City’s policies implementing the Goals and Objectives of the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

• The Plan further preserves open spaces in the Plan while enhancing them through 

coordination with the City and DNR, another policy set out in the Comprehensive 

Plan.  

• Recognizing the policy of promoting master planning for sites, the proposed map 

changes call, as appropriate, for planned use categories, which provide for necessary 

City input and approval while also providing the desired connections to adjacent 

properties called for in City policies.  Section I, Chapter 5 of the Comprehensive Plan 

sets out as a City policy that the City encourage developers to coordinate 

development plans with adjoining properties to achieve an efficient system of streets, 



 

5 

 

stormwater facilities, utilities and other public facilities; the proposed Comprehensive 

Plan amendments contemplate this coordinated development, taking into account 

storm water, traffic and pedestrian connectivity issues.   

• Following submission of this application and the initial presentation of the Plan 

Amendment to the Commission, the applicant will engage in a public engagement 

process seeking input from the community. In addition, upon approval of this 

amendment to the Comprehensive Plan of the City of Lake Geneva, the owner will 

actively reach out to neighbors and community organizations to further implement the 

plan.   

• City policies in Section I, Chapter 5 of the Comprehensive Plan also call for the 

diversification and expansion of economic opportunities by identifying areas for non-

residential and employment-based land uses consistent with uses shown on Maps 5a 

and 5b: Future Land Use.  The proposed Comprehensive Plan changes clearly 

implement this policy by providing for planned business and employment 

opportunities that are consistent with the surrounding land uses identified on Maps 5a 

and 5b: Future Land Use.   

• In continuing to preserve, open up for trail use and enhance the environmental 

corridors, the proposed Plan changes provide open space and meet both the active and 

passive recreational needs of the community, which is another policy set out in 

Section I, Chapter 5 of the Comprehensive Plan.   

• In short, the proposed Plan changes implement nine out of ten of the applicable 

policies set out in Section I, Chapter 5 of the Comprehensive Plan.   

 

3.  As it affects the amendment request, what circumstances have changed or what new 

information is now available since the original adoption of the City’s Comprehensive Plan, 

or in the case of a previously requested amendment, what circumstances have changed 

since the last amendment process? 

 

First and foremost, the ownership of the Site has changed from its previous institutional bank 

group to a private real estate development company with significant experience and the required 

expertise to develop the Site.   

 

In 2006 the site was approved for 275 residential development units (pg. 50 of comprehensive 

plan).  Due to the economy nothing was built. When the comprehensive plan was adopted by the 

City in 2009 the Site was given a Rural Holdings designation as a “holding zone”. In accordance 

with Section 98-105 of the zoning code “…the Rural Holding (RH) District shall either serve as 

a designation which preserves and protects agricultural activities, or as a “holding zone” which 

provides an interim land use (agriculture) that will easily permit further development (with 

rezoning to another district) at the appropriate time.”  

 

Second, the proposed Comprehensive Plan amendments complement adjoining land uses and 

enhance environmental quality by providing a potential trail and corridor connecting the White 

River Trail to downtown Lake Geneva, working with DNR to enhance the environmental 

corridor.  The housing proposed is appropriate in scale and, as called for in Chapter Eight: 

Housing and Neighborhood Development of the Comprehensive Plan, “offers a variety of 



 

6 

 

housing types to promote a desirable living environment for all residents.” Each of the 

Objectives of Chapter Eight is affirmatively addressed in the current proposal.   

 

Third, the changes contemplated by the proposed Plan preserve for public use the important 

environmental corridors.  This proposal specifically implements the Goals and Objectives set out 

in Chapter Three:  Natural Resources of the Comprehensive Plan by not only preserving these 

elements but enhancing them.  Notably, this Chapter calls for “linking the preservation of natural 

resources with passive recreational opportunities for residents and tourists,” which is precisely 

what this Plan achieves with its trail corridor.    

 

Fourth, the proposed Comprehensive Plan amendment allocates a large portion of the Site as 

Private Recreational Facilities.  A suitable location for a new, vibrant facility that will enhance 

the recreational and health environment of the entire community. The owner will engage in 

discussions with neighborhood groups to explore the possibilities “encourage[ing] the growth of 

civic and neighborhood organizations.” Chapter Seven: Community Facilities and Utilities of the 

Comprehensive Plan references as a Goal that development coordinate community facility 

systems planning with the land use, transportation, natural resources and recreation needs of the 

City and maintain the City’s high quality of life through access to a wide range of sustainable 

public services and facilities.”  The proposed Comprehensive Plan changes, incorporating 

recreational uses into the Plan amendments, implements these Goals and implements Objectives 

set out in Chapter Seven of the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Fifth, this proposal specifically offers, in a positive manner, upgrades to traffic conditions on 

Highway 50 by providing alternative street connections in an east-west direction through the 

development while also calling for improvements to surrounding streets, namely, Peller Road 

and Turkey Farm Road. This proposal is also implanting the goal of Chapter Six: Transportation 

in “provid[ing] a safe and efficient transportation system that meets the needs of multiple users.” 

An examination of each of the Objectives of Chapter Six in light of the proposed Plan 

amendments, demonstrates that the proposed Plan accomplishes each of the applicable Plan 

Objectives of this Chapter by offering the opportunity for an east west road connection through 

the Site as well as also providing for a pedestrian and bicycle trail corridor through the Site.    

 

Sixth, the proposed changes contain a significant economic development component, promoting 

appropriate retail, office and commercial development on the Site in ways that appropriately 

relate to surrounding uses while providing necessary infrastructure and recreational 

opportunities.  The proposed Plan implements the Goal set out in Chapter Nine: Economic 

Development to “attract and retain businesses that enhance the City’s character and appearance, 

and strengthen and diversify the non-residential tax base and employment opportunities.” 

Significantly, the economic components of this Plan not only “promote commercial development 

that will meet the shopping, service, and entertainment needs of residents and visitors” as called 

for in the Plan but also “balances economic growth with other community goals, such as 

neighborhood preservation and environmental protection.”  In providing for the trail corridor and 

appropriately complementing uses to surrounding uses, the proposed Plan changes achieve this 

balance and offer the City an exciting economic opportunity.   

 



 

7 

 

4.  Is there any additional information that the City of Lake Geneva should consider in its 

evaluation of this request? 

 

The proposed changes are in harmony with the goals and objectives of the Land Use Plan, and 

the goals and objectives of the entire Comprehensive Plan, including the Chapters addressing 

Natural Resources, Cultural Resources, Transportation, Community Facilities and Utilities, 

Housing and Neighborhood Development and Economic Development.  The proposed 

Comprehensive Plan changes recognize the challenges of the Site and respects not only the 

surrounding neighborhood but achieve important goals for the entire community.   

 

The development of the Site will be coordinated and carefully considered by the City at all stages 

of development because the owner has requested that all areas for development be designated 

planned areas, namely, Planned Mixed Use and Two-Family/ Townhouse Residential.  No part 

of this project will be developed without careful and considerable input by the City.  Further, the 

scale and scope of this development means that it will take time.  Nothing will change instantly 

or in an uncontrolled manner because of the process and ordinances defined by the Lake Geneva 

Zoning Ordinance. 

 

The proposed changes convert the blighted Site into a productive community hub for the City 

and its residents, and by providing a potential for the trail corridor connecting the White River 

Trail to downtown Lake Geneva. The significant environmental assets of the Site are preserved, 

enhanced and available to the entire community.    

 

 



White River Holdings LLC

June 2017

L A K E  G E N E V A ,  W I S C O N S I N  

L o c a t i o n  M a p

Highway 50 

H
ighw

ay 12 

N

Main Street 

Pe
ll

er
 R

o
ad

 

Turkey Farm Rd

EXHIBIT A-1

W
hit

e r
iv

er

N
. Edw

ards Blvd. 

S I T E 

City Facility

Downtown 

Lake Geneva 



White River Holdings LLC

June 2017

L A K E  G E N E V A ,  W I S C O N S I N  

S i t e  I n v e n t o r y  M a p

Highway 50 

H
ighw

ay 12 

N

Main Street 

Pe
ll

er
 R

o
ad

 

Turkey Farm Rd

EXHIBIT A-2   (Overlay on Exhibit A-1)

N
. Edw

ards Blvd. 

W
hit

e r
iv

er

Environmental 
Corridor

Floodplain

Wetlands City Facility

Woodlands 
Boundary

Hydric Soils

S I T E 

Downtown 

Lake Geneva 

LEGEND

Site Boundary

100 yr. Floodplain 
(FEMA)

DNR Wetlands

Environmental Corridor 
(SEWRPC)

Hydric Soils (USDA)

Woodlands

*Sources: 
Walworth Co. LIO, SEWRPC, DNR, USGS, USDA, FEMA



White River Holdings LLC

June 2017

L A K E  G E N E V A ,  W I S C O N S I N  

E x i s t i n g  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  D i s t r i c t  M a p

N

Highway 50 

H
ighw

ay 12 

Main Street 

EXHIBIT A-3   (Overlay on Exhibit A-2)

W
hit

e r
iv

er

Downtown 

Lake Geneva 

City Facility

S I T E 

Pe
ll

er
 R

o
ad

 

N
. Edw

ards Blvd. 

LEGEND

Site Boundary

Two-Family/Town-
house Residential

Environmental 
Corridor (SEWRPC)

Multi-Family 
Residential

*Sources: 
SEWRPC, WIDNR, Walworth County LIO, V&A

Single Family 
Residential - Urban

Private Recreation 
Facilities

Green Corridor

Central Business District

Neighborhood 
Mixed-Use

Planned Mixed-Use

Planned Office

Planned Business

Planned Industrial

Institutional & 
Community Services



White River Holdings LLC

June 2017

L A K E  G E N E V A ,  W I S C O N S I N  

Two-Family /
Townhouse 
Residential

Planned
Mixed Use

Private Recreation 
Facilities

R e v i s e d  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  D i s t r i c t  O v e r l a y  M a p

N

Highway 50 

H
ighw

ay 12 

Main Street 

EXHIBIT A-4   (Overlay on Exhibit A-3)

W
hit

e r
iv

er

Green Corridor

City Facility

Downtown 

Lake Geneva 

Pe
ll

er
 R

o
ad

 

N
. Edw

ards Blvd. 

LEGEND

Site Boundary

Two-Family/Town-
house Residential

Environmental 
Corridor (SEWRPC)

Multi-Family 
Residential

*Sources: 
SEWRPC, WIDNR, Walworth County LIO, V&A

Single Family 
Residential - Urban

Private Recreation 
Facilities

Green Corridor

Central Business District

Neighborhood 
Mixed-Use

Planned Mixed-Use

Planned Office

Planned Business

Planned Industrial

Institutional & 
Community Services



White River Holdings LLC

June 2017

L A K E  G E N E V A ,  W I S C O N S I N  

Downtown 

Lake Geneva 

Two-Family /
Townhouse 
Residential

Planned
Mixed Use

Private Recreation 
Facilities

C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  D i s t r i c t  O v e r l a y  M a p

N

Highway 50 

H
ighw

ay 12 

Main Street 

Pe
ll

er
 R

o
ad

 

Turkey Farm Rd

EXHIBIT A-5   (Overlay on Exhibit A-4)

N
. Edw

ards Blvd. 

W
hit

e r
iv

er

Green Corridor

City Facility

LEGEND

Site Boundary

Two-Family/Townhouse 
Residential

Environmental Corridor 
(SEWRPC)

Private Recreation 
Facilities

Green Corridor

*Sources: 
SEWRPC, WIDNR, Walworth County LIO, V&A

Planned Mixed Use



White River Holdings LLC

June 2017

L A K E  G E N E V A ,  W I S C O N S I N  

Residential 
Mixed 

Use

Retail

Commercial 
Office

Senior 
Housing

Recreation

Hospitality

Hospitality

L a n d  U s e  E x h i b i t

N

Highway 50 

H
ighw

ay 12 

Main Street 

Pe
ll

er
 R

o
ad

 

Turkey Farm Rd

EXHIBIT A-6   (Overlay on Exhibit A-5)

N
. Edw

ards Blvd. 

White River 
Trail Extension

W
hit

e r
iv

er

City Facility

Downtown 

Lake Geneva 

LEGEND

Site Boundary

Commercial Office

Environmental Corridor 
(SEWRPC)

Mixed Use

Hospitality

Retail

Residential

Senior Housing

Recreation



kgasper
Text Box

kgasper
Rectangle

kgasper
Rectangle

kgasper
Text Box
Exhibit "B"



kgasper
Rectangle

kgasper
Text Box
Exhibit "B"



EXHIBIT “C” 

PROPERTY OWNERS 

To be supplied by the City of Lake Geneva  










































	07 17 2017 Agenda
	3. June 19 2017 Plan Commission Minutes
	6.a. 150 Broad St Downtown Design
	6.b. 272 Broad St Downtown Design
	6.c. 201 Wrigley Dr Downtown Design
	7a.b. 420 Elmwood Ave GDP PIP
	8. 411 Interchange North CUP Site Plan Amendment
	9. 1225 Sage St PIP Amendment
	10. Summerhaven PIP
	11. Plan Commission Reviews Comprehensive Plan Amendment Applications



